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AGENDA 

30th Meeting of the STCU Governing Board 
Tbilisi, Georgia 

Thursday, 27 May 2010 
 

1. Opening Session 
 
1.1 Selection of New Governing Board Chair     (GB Members) 
1.2 Welcoming Remarks from the GB Chair    (Chairperson, Governing Board) 
1.3 Welcome from the Executive Director     (Andrew Hood) 
1.4 Opening Remarks from other GB Members/Invited Observers  (GB Members/ 
           Other Officials)  
2. Administrative Topics 

 
2.1  Adoption of the Agenda 
2.2  Approval of the Minutes of the 29th GB Meeting (19 November 2009, Kyiv, Ukraine) 
2.3 Approval of Executive Staff Nominations 
 
3. Morning Session 
 
3.1 Executive Director Report       (Andrew Hood) 

3.1.1 STCU Situation in Uzbekistan     (Andrew Hood) 
3.2 Approval of New Georgian Bank for STCU    (Curtis Bjelajac) 
3.3 Presentation of Draft 2009 Annual Report & 15h Anniversary Brochure (Igor Lytvynov) 
3.4 Update on Strategy Discussions      (Sabine Hey as AC Chair) 
3.5 Advance Guidance for 2011 Budget Planning Process  (Andrew Hood/Curtis Bjelajac) 
 
{NB:  If 2009 Financial Statements and Audit Report are ready, CFO Curtis Bjelajac will present a summary} 
 
4. Review of Record of Decisions 
 
5. Review of Project Funding Decisions  
 
6. Review of Press Statement for Release 
 
Lunch 
 
Short Press Conference (TBC) 
 
7. Afternoon Session 
 
7.1 Update on Targeted Research Program -  Nuclear Forensics  (Landis Henry) 
7.2 Update on Partners Program & Sustainability Programs   (Vic Korsun) 
7.3 Update on Targeted R&D Initiatives Program    (Landis Henry) 
7.4 Update on STCU Promotion Missions     (Michel Zayet) 
 
8. Closing Session 
 
8.1 Final Issues/Statements from GB Members    (GB Members) 
8.2 Final Remarks from Executive Director     (Andrew Hood) 
8.3 Closing Remarks from the GB Chair    (Chairman, Governing Board) 





     Executive Director Report  
(Reporting Period: November 2009 to May 2010) 

 
Major Issues 
 
Uzbek Situation 
 
There has been no significant change in the STCU situation in Uzbekistan since the 29th GBM in November 
2009.  
 
In December 2009, the U.S. Party reported that the issue of STCU was raised during a bilateral U.S.-Uzbek 
meeting in Washington DC.  During discussions on US-Uzbek S&T cooperation, U.S. Assistant Secretary of 
State for South and Central Asian Affairs Robert Blake raised the STCU with Uzbek Foreign Minister Vladimir 
Norov, whereby FM Norov reportedly responded that Uzbekistan viewed the STCU as a “middle-man” and that 
Uzbekistan preferred to work directly with foreign scientists and organizations.  The State Department officials 
countered that STCU was not a middle-man, but rather a science funding organization itself, as well as a 
facilitator of the kind of direct scientific contact that FM Norov mentioned.  The Uzbek side responded that they 
would study the matter further and provide a response. 
 
Since that bilateral meeting, there has been no further response from the Uzbek government on STCU.  In 
fact, in January 2010, STCU’s Uzbek Regional Officer received an official letter from the Uzbek Academy of 
Sciences, requesting that STCU vacate the office premises inside the Academy Presidium building, due to the 
fact that STCU was no longer accredited in Uzbekistan, did not have a valid lease for the office space, and that 
the Academy needed the space for other activities.   
 
Following the Governing Board wishes to “go-slow” on Uzbekistan to give the U.S. – Uzbek bilateral meetings 
a chance to develop results, STCU directed its Uzbek Regional Officer to use this time to prepare the office for 
probable closure (including finalizing the remaining STCU-Uzbek project reports, etc.)  It should be recalled 
that at the 29th GBM in November, the GB approved the 2010 AOB with funds for the Uzbek Regional Office 
and the Uzbek Regional Officer, in case the U.S. diplomatic demarche succeeded in changing the Uzbek 
government view of STCU.  STCU has not responded to the Academy request to vacate the office, and the 
STCU’s Regional Officer still works out of the office (albeit under a low profile).   
 
Thus far, the Uzbek Academy has not insisted on the STCU vacating the office space immediately, although 
the situation is awkward for the STCU Regional Officer and Academy officials.  Just recently, in the last part of 
April, the Academy President asked the STCU Regional Officer when STCU would vacate the office, as the 
Academy’s need for the space was growing more urgent.  The Regional Officer responded by asking for more 
time, until the 29th GBM when the STCU Governing Board might provide further instructions to her (to which 
the Academy President seemed to agree). 
 
The STCU Uzbek Regional Officer is under contract until the end of June, but any further contract extensions 
depend on what directions the Governing Board decides to take in relation to the STCU situation in 
Uzbekistan.  The Uzbek Regional Office has very little work now, and in the view of STCU management, the 
Uzbek Regional Office is no longer serving any current operational need for STCU. 
 
There are no active STCU projects in Uzbekistan, and six approved and funded Uzbek projects—4 Regular 
and 2 Partner Projects, together totaling approximately US$1.13 million and €130,000—remain in a “Funded-
Suspended” status due to the Uzbek authorities not allowing project funds to be transferred to the Uzbek 
project participants.  STCU management is recommending to the Governing Board that these suspended 
projects be officially terminated, due to the lack of progress in re-starting STCU activities in Uzbekistan. 
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Update on STCU New Headquarters Office Building 
 
In spite of a harsh winter in Kyiv, the STCU HQ operated well in the temporary facilities at 7A Metalistiv Street, 
on the campus of Kyiv Polytechnic Institute (KPI). 
 
During the 29th Governing Board Meeting, the KPI leadership showed the GB members the architectural 
design, floor plans, and artist concepts of the proposed new building that the Ukrainian government has 
committed for STCU by 2012.  At that time, the Ukrainian Party maintained that, in spite of some delays, 
progress was being made in securing all the remaining construction permits and city administrative approvals, 
and that construction would be ready to start in 2010. 
 
However, as of May, no construction work had been started at the site, and the KPI rector reported verbally to 
STCU that two issues had arisen that might cause some complications for the schedule.  First, the Kyiv City 
Council had not made any decision on the construction project, because the City Council had not met in 8 
months (apparently as many as 800 construction permits are waiting for the City Council action).  Second, as a 
result of the Ukrainian presidential election in January-February 2010, a new Ukrainian government was 
installed in March, and with it a directive to revise and re-submit a new 2010 state budget request.  Thus, KPI 
had not yet received any state funds up through April 2010, although the KPI rector assured STCU that there 
were funds available to start constructing the building foundation, once the Kyiv City Council approved the final 
permits.   
 
Nevertheless, given the changes in the Ukrainian government and delays in the 2010 state budget approval, 
KPI might eventually need STCU assistance in raising awareness of the Ukrainian government’s financial 
commitment to pay for completing construction of the STCU portion of the new building.  During a 29 April 
lunch meeting with the new Ukrainian Minister of Education and Science (Dimitro Tabachnyk), STCU and KPI 
showed the architectural plans and informed the Minister of the upcoming KPI budget request for 2011 state 
funds for the construction project. 
 
Other Party Issues 
 
New Ukrainian Government and Changes.  As mentioned, between January and May 2010, Ukraine elected a 
new president, and soon thereafter (in March) a new majority coalition was formed in the Ukrainian Verhovna 
Rada (Parliament) which then elected a new Prime Minister and new Cabinet of Ministers.  Among the new 
ministers is Vice Prime Minister Vladimir Semenozhenko, a past Ukrainian vice prime minister, a Ukrainian 
Academician and Presidium member of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, and general director of 
the Institute of Single Crystals complex in Kharkiv (and a long-time participant on STCU Regular and Partner 
Projects).  VPM Semenozhenko has the portfolio that includes science policy in Ukraine, and thus will be a 
prime STCU contact point within the current Ukrainian government. 
 
Among other changes, the new Ukrainian government decided to separate the “S&T” policy from of the 
Ministry of Education and Science, and put S&T policy under a newly formed State Committee on Scientific, 
Technological, and Innovative Development.  It is not fully clear yet, but it appears that Ukrainian government 
responsibility for STCU will fall under this new State Committee (although KPI remains under the Ministry of 
Education).  The head of the new State Committee is Dr. Boris Grynov (formerly director of the Institute of 
Scintillating Materials in Khakiv and another long-time participant on STCU Regular and Partner Projects). 
 
STCU is in contact with the principals of these new Ukrainian governmental structures, but there are many 
issues that are now in limbo while the new governmental bodies are put into place. These issues include: 
 

(a) the fate of the Ministry of Education and Science funds that STCU Secretariat continues to 
hold, as well as any proposal that the Ministry was responsible for developing that would 
meet the GB directive for fairly disposing of both the 299,000 UAH in Ministry funds held by 
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(b) the status of the user agreement that was being negotiated between KPI and the Ministry 

of Education and Science for STCU’s use of the temporary offices at 7A Metalistiv Street. 
 
(c) the state of progress on completing the conditions placed on the STCU ratification law by 

the Ukrainian government, which up until now was stuck inside the Ukrainian Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs awaiting certification of the Ukrainian translation of the STCU Statute (the 
STCU Executive Director and Senior Deputy Executive Director had raised this issue with 
senior officials within the Cabinet of Ministers prior to March changes to that Cabinet).      

 
Lease Problems with STCU Regional Office in Dniepropetrovsk.  As reported to the 29th GBM, the Ukrainian 
State Property Fund had brought legal suit against STCU for having its Dniepropetrovsk Regional Office 
occupying premises at the State Chemistry and Technology University (whose office space is owned by the 
State Property Fund) without a lease agreement. STCU received a formal summons from the court to appear 
before the court on 18 November.   
 
After several Kyiv City Arbitration Court hearings (attended by Senior DED Lytvynov, DED Zayet and the 
acting STCU CAO) and the provision of court-requested documents and other information, the court finally 
ruled that STCU was liable for the penalties claimed by the State Property Fund.  The total penalty was 
approximately UAH 20,914 plus UAH 445 in court fees (or approximately $2670 USD in total).  Given that this 
decision was not unexpected (as reported to the Board at the 29th GBM) and that the amount was deemed an 
immaterial amount, STCU management followed the course it recommended to the Governing Board and paid 
the penalty without appealing the court decision.  
 
As for the Dniepropetrovsk Regional Office, the STCU Secretariat has taken no steps to re-open the office.  
One letter from the general director of Yuzhnoye Design Bureau in Dniepropetrovsk advocated re-opening the 
Regional Office, noting that Yuzhnoye had several specialists interested in applying for the open Regional 
Officer position, as well as suggested that STCU locate its Regional Office at a local university.  But as the 
Governing Board was informed, the STCU management team is assessing the amount of STCU-related work 
expected in the Dniepropetrovsk region, and whether a regional office is still necessary.  As of now, all the 
work formerly conducted by the Dniepropetrovsk Regional Office has been done at the HQ office in Kyiv, with 
no apparent negative impact.  As a reminder, the Governing Board did approve funds in the 2010 
Administrative Operating Budget to finance a Regional Office and staff member in Dniepropetrovsk, if STCU 
management came to the conclusion to re-open that Ukrainian field office during 2010. 
 
Abrupt Cancellation of Canadian-Ukraine Aerospace Mission.  The changes in the Ukrainian Government also 
brought about a sudden and regrettable cancellation of a long-planned mission of Ukrainian aerospace 
industry officials to Canada.  STCU had been deeply involved in the planning, scheduling, and arrangement of 
scientific travelers, alongside the Canadian Embassy in Ukraine.  STCU had planned on this mission being a 
continuation of Canadian-Ukrainian business summits and Canadian Partnership Promotion outreach, and had 
hoped to recruit new Canadian non-governmental Partners in the aerospace field during this mission.  
However, new leadership at the National Space Agency of Ukraine decided at the last minute to postpone the 
entire trip. 
 
Because of the cancellation, which STCU was helpless to avoid or minimize the damage, STCU and the 
Canadian Party lost some Canadian SB funds, as well as long hours spent by STCU staff on the project.  As 
the STCU Secretariat continues to work with the Canadian Party about how best to plan future promotional 
missions and make best of the Canadian Party-designated Partnership Promotion & Support SB, this example 
will provide useful lessons for the STCU management. 
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Current Activities 
 
Targeted Research Pilot Program (TRP) Update  
 
Following the June 2009 subject-matter expert workshops on nuclear forensics and biosafety/biosecurity, the 
nuclear forensics TRP has progressed well.  European, U.S., and Canadian agencies took part in several 
working-level meetings with Ukrainian, Azeri, Georgian, and Moldovan scientists and nuclear safety regulators 
and law enforcement officials.  By May, two project directions had been developed to the proposal stage:  an 
European AidCo-sponsored project involving nuclear forensics capability upgrades in Georgia, Ukraine, 
Moldova, and Azerbaijan (members of the GUAM regional forum); and a call for S&T research proposals within 
the nuclear forensics field, with projects to be considered for funding primarily by the U.S. National Nuclear 
Security Administration (NNSA), Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, and the radiation protection bureau 
of Defense Research and Development Canada.  Other Canadian governmental agencies (e.g., the Royal 
Canadian Mounted Police) also began taking interest in the Nuclear Forensics TRP.  All told, approximately 2 
million euros was pledged for the forensics infrastructure project and (thus far) $1 million USD pledged from 
the U.S. agencies for the S&T projects portion. 
 
The Nuclear Forensics TRP took a pause in April when planned project proposal development meetings in 
Ukraine had to be canceled due disruption of transcontinental flights caused by the Icelandic volcano ash 
cloud.  The Canadians and Americans re-scheduled their meetings with Ukrainian scientists for the second 
week of May. 
 
Further, at the request of the U.S. Party, STCU reached out to ISTC so that the two Centers could coordinate 
a Caucasus-wide nuclear forensics upgrade effort.  Along these lines, Armenia would be integrated into the 
overall nuclear forensics effort, along with Georgia, Ukraine, and Azerbaijan.  Up until May, the proposals 
pursued under the guidance of the TRP “western donor programs” had been limited to Georgia, Ukraine, 
Moldova, and Azerbaijan.  Thus, STCU DED (Canada) Henry communicated with ISTC to work on fitting ISTC 
within the other on-going STCU efforts.  Namely, the U.S. is interested in including Armenia in the regional 
nuclear forensics work, and this would mean coordination with ISTC. 
 
Targeted R&D Initiatives Activity Update 
 
Ukraine. The 2009-2010 STCU-Ukrainian Targeted Initiative cycle is in the Funding Party-review phase. 
Twenty-five Full Form proposals were sent to the Funding Parties for their review by the end of January 2010.  
Funding decisions for this STCU-NASU Targeted Initiative cycle will take place at the 30th GBM in May 2010.  
 
Georgia.  The 2009-2010 call for STCU-Georgian Targeted Initiative cycle is also in the Funding Party review 
phase, following the same general 2010 schedule as the Ukrainian TI cycle.  Twenty-three Full Form proposals 
were sent to the Funding Parties for their review by the end of January 2010.  Funding decisions for this 
STCU-NASU Targeted Initiative cycle will take place at the 30th GBM in May 2010. 
 
Azerbaijan.  The 2010 STCU-Azeri Targeted Initiative cycle is in the “call for proposals” phase, with final 
project funding decisions scheduled to be made at this 31st GBM. 
 
Moldova.  The 2010 STCU-Moldova Targeted Initiative cycle also is in the “call for proposals” phase, following 
the same general schedule as the Azeri TI cycle.  Final project funding decisions are scheduled to be made at 
this 31st GBM. 
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Partner Program/Sustainability Activity 
 
As reported at the 29th GBM in November, Partner Project funding was surprisingly consistent with the levels 
achieved in 2008.  In all of 2009, $3.95 million (USD equivalent) in Non-Governmental Partner Project funding 
was GB-approved, in addition to $3.68 million (USD equivalent) in GB-approved Governmental Partner Project 
funding.  This total of $7.63 million (USD equivalent) was slightly greater than the $7.1 million (USD 
equivalent) in GB-approved Partner Project funding in 2008.  For comparison, in 2008 there was $4.24 million 
(USD equivalent) in GB-approved Non-Government Partner Projects and $2.76 million (USD equivalent) in 
GB-approved Governmental Partner Projects.   
 
So far in 2010, there has been a larger amount of Partner Projects readied for this 30th GBM:  nearly $5.75 
million (USD equivalent), with approximately $4.15 million in Governmental Partner Projects and approximately 
$1.61 million (USD equivalent) in Non-Governmental Partner Projects.  Whether this trend continues through 
the rest of 2010 cannot be judged now, but it is worthy to note that 2010 Partner Project funding is already 
close to the annual totals of the past two years.  
 
Project Agreement Processing 
 
The STCU staff has worked hard to maintain the STCU internal performance goal of processing project 
agreements in as short a time as possible, with the average time to process the past 40 GB-approved projects 
currently steady at approximately 96 days.  Much the current delay in approving project agreements lies with 
the time needed to receive workplan approvals from the Canadian and U.S. Parties.   However, as cited in 
previous GB meetings, the STCU management is now paying closer attention to the total number of active 
STCU projects, as well as the amounts of new GB-approved project funding and current year project 
expenditures.  
 
In 2009, only 19 Regular Projects were GB-approved for funding, for a total of approximately $3.7 million (USD 
equivalent).  This is one of the lowest annual totals for GB-approved Regular Projects in STCU’s history.  
While more Targeted R&D Initiative Projects were GB-approved for funding in 2009 than in previous years (38 
in total), internal surveys of the STCU staff suggest that Targeted Initiative Projects are roughly 30% less staff 
work than Regular Projects.  By contrast, these same staff surveys found that Partner Projects are roughly 
30% greater staff work than Regular Projects (and 55 Partner Projects were approved in 2009).  Thus, STCU 
Secretariat will soon experience a steep reduction in the number of active Regular Projects, while there might 
be only some offset of the lost Regular Project workload due to relatively greater numbers of Partner and 
Targeted Initiative Projects.  
 
  2006  2007 2008 2009 Jan 

2010 
Feb 
2010 

Mar 
2010 

Apr 
2010 

As of 5 May 
2010 

Avg # of 
Active 
Projects per 
Month 

220 247 242 219 215 213 218 220 220 

Avg # of Days 
from GBM 
Approval to 
Project 
Signature 

325 161 95 93 99 96 96 96 96 

Min-Max # of 
Active 
Projects Over 
the Time 
Period 

209-
227 

231-
258 

221-
260 

208-
227 

213 - 222 
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Important Visitors/Meetings/Events 
 
Meeting with State Department Export Control Policy Office (Kyiv, 13 November 2009).  STCU ED Andrew 
Hood met with State Department office director Justin Friedman (Office of Export Control Cooperation, 
ISN/ECC). Mr. Friedman’s office, along with the U.S. Embassy in Ukraine, is working with the Ukrainian 
government on co-hosting the 11th Annual International Export Control Conference, to be held in Kyiv in June 
2010.  ED Hood and Mr. Friedman discussed possible ways that STCU could participate in the conference, 
and potential future cooperation involving STCU and the ISN/ECC policy and program initiatives. 
 
ISTC 15th Anniversary Celebration (Moscow, 10 December 2009).  ED Hood attended the 1-day conference 
organized by ISTC to mark the organization’s 15th year of operations.  ED Hood also had side-bar meetings 
with U.S. Party officials, ISTC officials, and EU Party officials. 
 
Courtesy Call on U.S. Ambassador (Kyiv, 21 January 2010).  ED Andrew Hood paid a courtesy call on U.S. 
Ambassador to Ukraine John Tefft to introduce STCU and some of its issues to the Ambassador. 
 
TRP Nuclear Forensics Coordination Meeting (Brussels, 21-22 January 2010).  DED (Canada) Landis Henry, 
along with Partnership Manager Elena Taberko and Assistant Irnyna Rogovchenko, held meetings with EU 
and U.S. officials interested in developing nuclear forensics-related projects under the STCU’s Targeted 
Research Program initiative in nuclear forensics. 
 
AidCo Evaluation Visit to Simferopol Anti-Plague Station (Crimea, 25-29 January 2010). DED (EU) Michel 
Zayet, and STCU Senior Specialist Konstantin Nizheradze, accompanied Phillipe Servais (Europe AidCo) on a 
visit to Simferopol to discuss a future biosecurity project at the Simferopol anti-plague institute, under the EU 
Instrument for Stability action plan. 
 
TRP Nuclear Forensics Working Group Meeting (Kyiv, 8-10 February 2010). Under the Targeted Research 
Program – Nuclear Forensics initiative, DED (Canada) Henry hosted a 3-day meeting of Canadian, European, 
and U.S. technical experts to work on developing detailed proposals with Ukrainian, Azerbaijan, Georgian, and 
Moldovan scientists and officials. 
 
Consultation Meeting with EU Party Officials (Brussels, 15-18 February 2010).  DED (EU) Zayet held 
consultation meetings with EU Party officials in DG AidCO.  DED Zayet also held coordination meetings with 
DG Research/EURATOM on possible EURATOM-Ukrainian projects through STCU. 
 
Meeting with Ukrainian Cabinet of Minister Officials (STCU, 25 February 2010).  ED Hood and Senior DED 
(Ukraine) Igor Lytvynov met with two director-level officials from the Cabinet of Ministers to discuss STCU and 
specific STCU-Ukrainian government issues.  The two CabMin officials work on European integration issues, 
and thus were interested in assisting STCU as part of Ukraine-EU relationship agenda. 
 
DOE/GIPP Program Review/Strategy Meeting (Washington DC, 1-6 March 2010).  DED (USA) Vic Korsun 
attended a DOE/GIPP program review and strategy meeting, along with program officials, National Lab 
officials involved with GIPP, and other USG officials. 
 
STCU Strategy Working Group Meeting (STCU, 26 March 2010).  Members of the STCU Advisory Committee, 
having attended meetings in Moscow on ISTC strategy, came to STCU for a one-day meeting on STCU future 
strategy and program directions. 
 
Coordination Meeting with ISTC Project Proposal Group Leader (STCU, 14 April 2010).  ISTC Proposal Group 
leader Elena Ryabeva spent several days with STCU staff, including a short meeting with ED Hood, to discuss 
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a variety of ISTC and STCU project proposal processing issues (including discussions on joint ISTC-STCU 
project processing). 
 
EU Partnership Promotion Mission to Spain (Madrid, 21-23 April 2010).  DED (EU) Zayet travel to Madrid with 
an STCU-sponsored delegation of scientists to attend an international business conference organized by an 
STCU Partner (CIEMAT).  This mission is one of the European Partnership Promotion missions planned to 
coincide with the European Council Presidency, which during this time is held by Spain.  This mission was 
greatly curtailed by the flight disruptions caused by the Icelandic volcanic ash cloud.  Originally, the STCU 
delegation was to visit the site of the ITER (the international experimental thermonuclear energy project) in 
southern France, as well as the “Fusion for Energy” organization in Barcelona (“Fusion for Energy” is the 
European Joint program implementer for European participation in the ITER program).  But these visits were 
cancelled due to the closure of European airspace during the mid-April period. 
 
Meeting with Ukrainian State Committee Head (STCU, 29 April 2010).  ED Hood and Senior DED (Ukraine) 
Igor Lytvynov met with Dr. B. Grynov, head of the newly created Ukrainian State Committee on Scientific, 
Technical, and Innovative Development, to discuss the new committee and its future relationship to STCU. 
 
Meeting with Ukrainian Minister of Education & Sciences (KPI, 25 February 2010).  ED Hood, Senior DED 
(Ukraine) Igor Lytvynov, and DED (USA) Vic Korsun met with Dmitro Tabachnyk, Minister of Education and 
Science of Ukraine, along with KPI Rector Mikhail Zgurovsky.  Discussions ranged from the planned new 
permanent building for STCU, and the relations between STCU and the Ministry as well as ways in which the 
Minister could assist STCU in bringing issues (such as the future strategy of STCU) to the forefront of the 
Ukrainian government. 
 
 
 
Andrew A. Hood 
Executive Director 



  

SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY 
CENTER IN UKRAINE 

Selection of Bank in Georgia 
 
Background 
 
In accordance with Article IV (C) of the STCU Financial Regulations, which states the following:  “The Center 
shall establish and maintain bank accounts in Ukraine, or other CIS countries that have acceded to the 
Agreement, as necessary for financing the administrative activities of the Center and for distributing funds to 
project recipients.  The Board shall approve the establishment of each banking relationship.” 
 
Facts about Banking Operations in Georgia: 
 
a. STCU current bank in Georgia is Vneshtorgbank (VTB Georgia), which has two main shareholders 

Vneshtorgbank (84.71%) and EBRD (8.95%) 
 
b. STCU pays approximately $2,500 in banking fees per year in Georgia. 

 
c. Because of recent development of Georgian banking market, and entrance of multi-national banks, STCU 

decided to review its banking operations in Georgia. 
 

Status of Current Request for Proposal for Annual Financial Statement Audit 
 
1. Request for Proposal Issued    2 April 2010 

2. Proposals were due by      17:00, 23 April 2010 

3. Approval and Award by Evaluation Committee 

 The Evaluation Committee was comprised of the following people:  Halyna Ishchuk – Evaluator, 
Marina Dzubinska – Evaluator, and Curt Bjelajac – Evaluator. 

 The Evaluation Committee reviewed the proposal and the committee recommends that the contract be 
awarded as follows: 

Rank Bank Owner 

1 Bank Republic 80% Societe Generale Group & 
10% EBRD 

2* ProCredit Bank 100% ProCredit Holding 
(Frankfurt) 

3 Basis Bank 15% EBRD 

4 TBC Bank 10% IFC and 10% DEG 

*The proposal ranked 2nd is subject to reconsideration in the event that Bank Republic does not 
deliver the offered services. 

4. Board Approval By Governing Board Presented for approval to the 30th STCU Board 
of Governors on May 27, 2010 
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The past year has seen the beginning of a transition for the STCU.  Indeed, the Governing Board made the
decision to relocate the Secretariat Headquarters into a newly built, modern, and permanent building by
2012.  Until the construction of this new facility is completed, the Secretariat Headquarters is hosted in new
temporary premises located on the campus of the Kyiv Polytechnic Institute.  The relocation was carried
out in a very short time in early 2009, thus allowing the STCU to continue providing its services to the for-
mer weapon scientists from Azerbaijan, Georgia, Moldova, Ukraine, and Uzbekistan, and to work with its
Funding Parties and Partners with minimal disruptions.

Within the STCU’s activities, it is worth noticing the further extension of the very successful Targeted
Research & Development Initiatives (TRDI) Program to Moldova.  The first cycle of this program with the
Moldovan Academy of Sciences was inaugurated with the approval of six projects co-financed equally by
Moldova and the Funding Parties (Canada, the European Union, and the United States), for a total of ap-
proximately $300,000 USD.  The TRDI Program is now up and running in Azerbaijan, Georgia, Moldova,
and Ukraine and saw in 2009 the selection of 38 projects matched by equal funding amounts from each of
these four Recipient Parties and from the Funding Parties.  Such a co-financing set-up would have been
unimaginable 10 years ago and demonstrates how, progressively, the STCU successfully initiated a transi-
tion from the traditional donor-recipient approach to a partnership approach.
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The traditional support to regular research projects continued, allowing the scientists to carry out innovative scientific
and technological research activities in collaboration with scientists from Canada, the EU, and the U.S.  While the
TRDI Program was primarily designed to encourage the transition toward self-sustainability of the Ukrainian, Geor-
gian, and other CIS scientists, the regular project scheme was the traditional means to support a broad community of
former weapon scientists to advance science in all thematic areas, and to help integrate these former weapon scientists
into the international scientific community.  As in the past year, the accent was put on thematic areas of priority inter-
est to respond to the socio-economical and environmental needs of the recipient countries.

In a year of difficult economic conditions following the international economic and financial crisis, the Partner Pro-
gram has shown resilience with a continued strong activity and funding amounting to more than half of the total STCU
financial commitments to projects in 2009.  This vitality demonstrates once again that STCU appears as a reliable part-
ner for firms, small- and medium enterprises, and governmental entities to help them answer their civilian research
needs by facilitating their access to formerly defense-oriented, high-level scientific and technological expertise from
Ukraine, Azerbaijan, Georgia, Moldova, and Uzbekistan.

The STCU now enters its 15th year of operation and has all reasons to celebrate this anniversary in 2010.  While it
keeps on carrying out effectively its mission of non-proliferation of scientific knowledge of WMD, the STCU constantly
adapts to an evolving environment by developing innovative programs and approaches.  The STCU remains an asset that
the Governing Parties will strive to bring into the future by revising its strategic plan in an effort to better address the
contemporary non-proliferation, regional stability and security issues corresponding to the needs of its member coun-
tries and the international community.

It is therefore with great pleasure that I invite you to look at the various events that will mark this anniversary during
the year 2010, including especially the dedicated 15th Anniversary event planned to take place in conjunction with the
31st Governing Board Meeting in the latter half of 2010.

At a time when peace, stability and security remain major concerns, the STCU provides an example of how cooperation
through science can contribute to address these difficult challenges.  Therefore, on behalf of all the members of the Gov-
erning Board, I would like to sincerely thank those who have made this possible, starting in particular with our Exec-
utive Director, Andrew Hood.  I wish also to commend the other members of the STCU Management Committee, all
the STCU staff in Kyiv and in the STCU regional offices, as well as the Parties delegations and the scientific advisors
for their hard work and their efforts to ensure the success of STCU.  Finally, the scientists of Ukraine, Azerbaijan, Geor-
gia, Moldova, and Uzbekistan deserve our appreciation for their contributions to peace and prosperity through their sci-
entific research and cooperation.
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Artist Conception of Proposed
New Building Where STCU
Will Be Located After 2012
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The year 2009 began with a major relocation of the STCU Headquarters (HQ) office to temporary prem-
ises offered by the Ukrainian government, in keeping with the decision of the 27th Governing Board Meet-
ing on 18 November 2008.  That Governing Board decision also posed a major challenge for the STCU staff,
in that this office relocation had to be done in a manner that maintained “uninterrupted operations”.  Sur-
mounting this challenge became even more daunting when it became clear that the temporary premises at
7A Metalistiv Street (on the campus of Kyiv Polytechnic Institute) would be smaller than anticipated in the
preliminary planning, and would not be ready for occupancy until mid-February 2009.

In spite of the many obstacles, by the end of February 2009 (just 2 weeks after the physical relocation was
started) the STCU HQ office was operational in its new temporary offices.  To the knowledge of the STCU Sec-
retariat, none of the STCU’s many customers and stakeholders felt any impact during the relocation period. 

Thus, I want this 2009 Executive Director Statement to reflect my utmost gratitude to the amazing pro-
fessionalism displayed by the entire STCU Kyiv-based staff:  they were given a significant challenge and,
in my opinion, they met that challenge better than any Executive Director could ask.  My thanks to:

• Mr. David Cleave, Chief Administrative Officer (and lead manager on the physical relocation)
• Mr. Victor Rossikhin, Chief Maintenance Officer
• Mr. Charles Rostron, Head of Information Technology Group

• Mr. Curtis Bjealjac, Chief Financial Officer
• Dr. Landis Henry, Deputy Executive Director (Canada)
• Mr. Michel Zayet, Deputy Executive Director (European Union)
• Mr. Victor Korsun, Depute Executive Director (United States)
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And, while too numerous to mention by name, I want to extend my grateful appreciation for the effort, patience, and
teamwork displayed by every member of the STCU staff, both in Kyiv and in our Regional Offices.  Without their ded-
ication to their jobs and their profession, STCU could not have met the Governing Board mandate for “uninterrupted
operations” during this relocation.  Further, the STCU HQ staff has shown great versatility and flexibility in fitting
into their new office spaces.

Throughout this relocation, officials from the Ukrainian Ministry of Education and Science and from the National Tech-
nical University of Ukraine “Kyiv Polytechnic Institute” made their best efforts to support STCU.  One can say that the
Ukrainian government reaffirmed its long-term commitment to STCU by issuing a Cabinet of Ministers Decree (22.22.22)
to provide STCU, at Ukrainian government expense, with modern, permanent, and suitable office premises by 2012.  Ar-
chitectural plans and construction permits for this permanent facility at Kyiv Polytechnic Institute had been finalized by
the end of 2009, and both the Ukrainian government and Kyiv Polytechnic Institute repeated their intent to see STCU
moved into these new premises by 2012.  For these positive statements, and for its high-level commitment of support to
STCU, the STCU Secretariat is grateful to the Ukrainian Party.

With great regret, STCU was not able to engage Uzbekistan or our Uzbek colleagues during 2009, as has been the case
going back to 2006.  This unfortunate situation led to the final STCU-Uzbek projects being completed, as scheduled,
in 2009.  The STCU Secretariat continues to hope that this situation will change, and that the mutually successful
cooperation between Uzbekistan and STCU can soon be re-established

During 2009, STCU continued to implement all of its programs with steady delivery and measurable progress.  STCU
held its 28th Governing Board Meeting in Baku, Azerbaijan, and is grateful for the hospitality of the Azeri govern-
ment and the Azeri National Academy of Sciences (the 29th Governing Board Meeting was held in Kyiv, hosted by
Kyiv Polytechnic Institute).  STCU also held numerous events and workshops in Ukraine, Georgia, and Moldova, and
sponsored promotional missions to France, the Czech Republic, Sweden, Canada, and the United States.

STCU experienced an overall decline in approved project funding in 2009, compared to 2008.  This decline was due
to a sharp decline in Regular Project funding, which comes from the traditional ex-WMD scientist redirection pro-
grams of the STCU Funding Parties (Canada, the EU, and the United States).  But this reduction was partially off-
set by better-than-expected results from the Partners Program and the expansion of the Targeted R&D Initiatives
Program. STCU also implemented the first 3 projects of its pilot Institute Sustainability Program.

Partner Project funding reached levels comparable to the 2008 levels, which was much higher than expected given
the global economic situation in 2009.  STCU also successfully started the first co-financed Targeted R&D Initiatives
projects with Moldova, which made 2009 the highest level of Targeted R&D Initiative projects and project funding
since the program began in 2005.  Targeted R&D Initiatives is now active in 4 of the 5 STCU Recipient Parties, ex-
emplifying the STCU’s “evolution to partnership” between its Funding and Recipient Parties.

STCU saw a subtle (and yet to be confirmed) shift in the position of Regular Projects versus the other project cate-
gories—a situation STCU has not experienced in its entire history.  The open-call Regular Projects, which had always
been the dominant category of new project activity, gained the smallest share of the total approved projects in 2009,
falling behind the more deliberately solicited and focused Partner- and Targeted Initiative projects. 

This shift in project balances underlines the challenge to the STCU to adapt to the evolving strategic environment
surrounding global WMD nonproliferation.  On its own initiative, the STCU Secretariat has begun to take small
steps in exploring possible adaptations.  In 2009, STCU proposed a new Targeted Research Program; a pilot program
to better position STCU to meet STCU Party program priorities in contemporary threat reduction and regional sta-
bility.  STCU is also working with its Governing Parties to better implement bilateral Party supplemental programs,
which are targeting areas of priority interest for individual Parties.

In all, the year 2009 started with completing unfinished business related to the STCU headquarters offices, but ended
with satisfactory progress in all of its programs, and included some new pilot programs to better prepare for the fu-
ture.  The year 2010 marks the 15th Anniversary of STCU operations, and the STCU Secretariat looks forward to cel-
ebrating this milestone by continuing its professional service to its stakeholders, and aligning itself to better serve its
stakeholders in the future. 
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On 4-5 February, STCU officials participated in a Euro-
pean Union-National Space Agency of Ukraine “Twin-
ning Project” aimed at boosting Ukrainian-European
Union space cooperation.  STCU Senior Deputy Execu-
tive Director (Ukraine) Igor Lytvynov and Deputy Ex-
ecutive Director Michel Zayet (EU) attended this
seminar.  The seminar focused on possible Ukraine in-
volvement with the GALILIEO European Global Navi-
gation Satellite System.   There is a strong interest from
the newly formed European Global Navigation Satellite
System Regulatory Authority to include Ukraine in the
achievement of a fully operational GALILEO system. 

On 2 -11 March, STCU Deputy Executive Director
(Canada) Landis Henry had a series of meetings with na-
tional science officials of Moldova, Georgia and Azer-
baijan, to discuss the future plans for the STCU Targeted
Initiatives Program in each of these STCU Recipient
Parties. At the Moldovan meetings, a draft Statement of
Intent to Cooperate was finalized with the Moldovan
Academy of Sciences, which paved the way to launch the
new STCU-Moldovan Targeted Initiatives Program.

SEMINAR ON POTENTIAL USES AND COMMERCIAL APPLICATIONS OF
GALILEO IN KYIV

STCU DEEPENS ITS COOPERATION WITH NATIONAL SCIENCE 
ORGANIZATIONS



On 30 March, an STCU Commercialization Round Table
was conducted at the Institute of Physics (Baku, Azerbai-
jan) for STCU-trained Chief Technology Commercializa-
tion Officers (CTCOs).  STCU Deputy Executive Director
(USA) Vic Korsun led STCU presentations on strategic
growth for R&D institutes, commercial R&D matchmaking
& Promotional Event Support, and “value drivers” in the
commercial R&D marketplace.  Dr. Shafiga Topchieva, a
CTCO from Institute of Zoology in Baku, presented an up-
date on the activity of Agency for Technology Transfer of
Azerbaijan.

On 15 April, H.E. Ambassador Park Ro-byug of the Repub-
lic of Korea met with STCU Executive Director Andrew
Hood to become familiar with the STCU mission and its ac-
tivities. Mr. Kim Hyun-Duk (Minister Counsellor, Embassy
of the Republic of Korea in Ukraine) also attended the meet-
ing. AMB Park noted that there was growing interest in
South Korea to expand S&T partnership activities and other
forms of cooperation in Ukraine, and that this included some
discussions of South Korea working with STCU in the fu-
ture.
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COMMERCIALIZATION ROUND-TABLE MEETING HELD IN AZERBAIJAN

SOUTH KOREAN AMBASSADOR VISITS STCU



On 21-25 April,  a group of scientists from Azerbaijan,  in-
cluding Dr. Adalat Hasanov (STCU Information Officer in
Baku), and Elbek Babayev (CTCO from Institute of Chem-
ical Additives) participated in an STCU-organized Part-
nership Promotion mission to the Hannover Messe
Technology Exhibition in Hannover, Germany. The Azeri
scientists presented new technologies developed by insti-
tutes of Azerbaijan National Academy of Sciences, includ-
ing innovations developed as a result of STCU projects.

On 7 May, H.E. Ambassador Stefan Gullgren of Sweden
met with STCU Executive Director Andrew Hood to dis-
cuss STCU activities and possible new types of STCU-
Swedish cooperation in fields such a bio-security, climate
change, and general science cooperation. Mr. Ulf Sor
(Counsellor of the Embassy of Sweden in Ukraine) also at-
tended.  Sweden is one of the four Founding Parties of the
STCU, and while Sweden relinquished its STCU position
to the European Union in 1998, Sweden retained a close re-
lationship with STCU and is now looking to re-energize
that relationship.
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PARTNER PROMOTIONAL MISSION TO HANNOVER MESSE 

SWEDISH AMBASSADOR VISITS STCU



On 7 May, in the framework of STCU pilot Institute Sus-
tainability Program (ISP), representatives of 6 Ukrainian
institutes presented their ISP project proposals at STCU
Advisory Committee Meeting in Ottawa, Canada. The del-
egations included Directors, Deputy Directors and Chief
Technology Com         mer cialization Officers (CTCOs) of the
proposing institutes.  The delegation also made presenta-
tions about their institutes’ capabilities at the Environmen-
tal Canada Laboratory and at the Institute for
Micro-structural Sciences and Aerospace Research, an in-
stitute of the National Research Council of Canada.

On 3-7 May, STCU sponsored three scientists to attend and
make pitch presentations at the TechConnect Summit, In-
vestment Conference, and Exhibition (Houston Texas,
USA).  The three scientists were selected to participate by
the TechConnect Organizing Committee based on the sci-
entists’ submissions that STCU helped prepare.  The Tech-
Connect Summit brings together the world's top technology
transfer offices, companies, and investors (business angels
and venture capitalists) to locate the most promising tech-
nologies and early stage companies from across the globe. 
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INSTITUTE SUSTAINABILITY PROGRAM PROPOSALS PRESENTED

PARTNERSHIP PROMOTION MISSION TO THE TECHCONNECT SUMMIT



On 21-22 May in Astana, Kazakhstan, the UN Economic
Commission for Europe organized a capacity-building event
on facilitating external financing of new innovative enter-
prises in transition economies of the region.  DED (US)
Victor Korsun made a presentation on STCU experiences
with barriers to commercialization of scientific results.
STCU-trained CTCOs from Ukraine, Azerbaijan, and
Georgia also attended to establish new business contacts
and discuss promising ideas and projects.

The STCU Governing Board convened its 28th meeting on
4 June in Baku, Azerbaijan.  At this meeting, the Board ap-
proved 10 Regular Projects totaling $833,758 USD plus
EURO 859,618, 13 new Partner Projects totaling
$1,934,464 USD, and 11 Partner Project contract exten-
sions $484,785 USD and EURO192,144.  The Board also
approved STCU funding for 11 Targeted Initiative projects
($231,622 USD plus EURO 109,421) co-financed with
Georgia and 12 Targeted Initiative projects ($373,854 USD
plus EURO 161,292) co-financed with Ukraine.  The Board
also reviewed the 6 submitted proposals of the pilot Insti-
tute Sustainability Program and approved 3 of them for a
total of $998,964 USD.
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INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON ATTRACTING EXTERNAL FINANCE
FOR NEW ENTERPRISES

28TH STCU GOVERNING BOARD MEETING HELD IN BAKU



On 8-9 June, STCU held a Nuclear Forensics Experts’
Workshop in Tbilisi (Georgia), gathering specialists in this
field from Azerbaijan, Canada, EU, Georgia, Ukraine, and
the United States. The workshop is part of the new STCU
Targeted Research Program pilot. The purpose of this work-
shop was to identify R&D capabilities, priorities, and po-
tential sources of funding available for establishing
collaborative nuclear forensics projects to help fight illicit
nuclear material trafficking.  Over 40 people participated,
including experts from Lawrence Livermore National Lab-
oratory (USA), and the Institute for Transuranium Ele-
ments (Germany).

On 12 June, the STCU and the National Space Agency of
Ukraine (NSAU) signed a memorandum of understanding,
outlining the directions of mutual cooperation between the
two organizations for the future. Many ex-USSR ballistic
missile systems experts of interest to STCU work in insti-
tutes and organizations under the NSAU.  The memoran-
dum calls for STCU and NSAU to develop joint sponsorship
of conferences, publications, and other activities, and to
agree on co-financing of such activities.
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NUCLEAR FORENSICS EXPERTS WORKSHOP

STCU AND NATIONAL SPACE AGENCY OF UKRAINE COOPERATION



On 25-26 June, STCU held its second Targeted Research
Program Experts workshop, this time on the subject of
biosafety & biosecurity.  This Expert’s Workshop took place
in Annecy, France, and involved more than 30 participants
from the 10 counties and international organizations.  As
with the Nuclear Forenscis Experts Workshop, this work-
shop was to identify the unmet R&D needs and priorities in
the biosafety/biosecurity field and to create the basis for the
new projects in STCU Recipient countries to address those
priority needs. 

On 25 June, the first meeting of the Association of Profes-
sionals for Commercialization of Technology in Ukraine
(APCT) was held, after its official registration as a not-for-
profit organization in Ukraine. STCU’s Ukrainian Chief
Technology Commercialization Officers (CTCOs) created
this Association as a post-CTCO training initiative, and
with the encouragement of STCU.  This association is sim-
ilar to groups established by CTCOs in Azerbaijan and
Georgia, and is a major step toward developing Ukrainian
technology transfer capabilities. 
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UKRAINIAN TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER ASSOCIATION ESTABLISHED

BIOSAFETY/BIOSECURITY EXPERTS’ WORKSHOP



On 22-24 June, STCU and a delegation of 9 Ukrainian sci-
entists joined the International Science and Technology
Center (ISTC) in the FISA 2009 workshop (Prague, Czech
Republic).  FISA is a European Commission/EURATOM
meeting on nuclear technology, physics and related areas.
The STCU delegation prepared 5 posters presenting tar-
geted research achievements of Ukrainian scientific organ-
izations. STCU presented an overview on STCU
involvement in past and future cooperation between the EU
and Ukrainian scientists. A proposal was developed for pos-
sible joint cooperation between EURATOM and National
Academy of Sciences of Ukraine through the STCU-
Ukrainian Targeted Initiative Program.

On 28 July, STCU Executive Director Andrew Hood and
Academician Mikhail Zgurovsky (Rector, National Techni-
cal University of Ukraine “Kyiv Polytechnic Institute”,
KPI) signed a statement of cooperation establishing the
frame for future STCU-KPI cooperation. This framework
clarifies the areas and manner in which STCU ex-weapon
scientist redirection programs will interact with KPI aca-
demic R&D and technology transfer efforts. Many in the
KPI faculty have professional backgrounds in the ex-USSR
military weapons R&D complex, and KPI has participated
in many previous STCU projects.
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STCU – KYIV POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE COOPERATION AGREEMENT

STCU PARTICIPATES IN FISA 2009 IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC



On 3 September, H.E. Ambassador Jose' Manuel Pinto Teix-
eira (Head of the Delegation of the European Commission
to Ukraine) paid a courtesy call on STCU and met with
STCU Executive Director Andrew Hood. Mr. Hans Rhein
and Mr. Andriy Bandura (of the EC Delegation in Kyiv) ac-
companied Ambassador Pinto Teixeira to the meeting. Mr.
Hood gave an overview of STCU to Ambassador Pinto
Teixeira, and both discussed STCU future activities and po-
tential program areas where STCU and EU agencies might
find mutual interests.

On 14-17 September, STCU co-sponsored an international
conference on “Monitoring, Forecast, and Prevention of An-
imal Infectious Diseases Using Up-to-date Methods of Epi-
zootology”, in Feodosiya (Crimea, Ukraine).  Participants
came from Ukraine, Russia, Kazakhstan, Moldova, Tajik-
istan, Poland, France, and Serbia discussed a variety of vet-
erinary-based biosafety & biosecurity concerns.  At the
invitation of STCU, Dr. Marie-Francoise Saron (biosafety
/ biosecurity expert of the Administration of Prime Minis-
ter of France) participated in the conference.
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EUROPEAN COMMISSION DELEGATION HEAD VISITS STCU

STCU SPONSORED CONFERENCE ON PREVENTION 
OF ANIMAL INFECTIOUS DISEASES



As a next step of CTCO Program in Moldova 19-23 October
STCU conducted assessment of commercialization potential
of 10 Institutes and Universities, involved in CTCO pro-
gram. STCU invited experts prof. Pavlo Tsybulev, Institute
of Intellectual Property and Rights of Ukraine and
Volodymyr Gusev, North-East Regional Center of Innova-
tive Development, State Agency of Ukraine for Investments
and Innovations to conduct the assessment.
The aim of the assessment was to explain the concept of mar-
ket pull vs. technology push for respect to academic institu-
tions, discuss current status of technology commercialization
and marketing efforts by the institute, analyze current struc-
ture of institute's efforts and potential portion of demand-
driven research contracts (vs. sales of previously completed
projects and products), discuss and analyze Institute's expe-
rience working with Moldavian and foreign industrial part-
ners, ensure good understanding of potential benefits for the
institutes as a result of their participation in this initiative.

On 26-27 October, STCU held a Technology Transfer Work-
shop with experts from Oxford University (UK) at Kyiv
Polytechnic Institute.  Tim Hart (CEO, Zyoxel Ltd. at the
Centre for Innovation & Enterprise, Oxford University) and
Dr Chris Moody, (Isis Innovation Limited, the tech transfer
company of the Oxford University) made presentations to
the 60 participants on tech transfer principles, licensing and
negotiation, and case studies.
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STCU’S TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER OFFICER PROGRAM BEGINS IN
MOLDOVA 19-23 OCTOBER

STCU CONDUCTS TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER WORKSHOP WITH OXFORD
UNIVERSITY



On 12 November, the STCU Executive Director Andrew
Hood and the Vice-President of the National Academy of
Medical Sciences of Ukraine, Prof. Yuriy Kundiev signed a
statement of cooperation establishing the framework for fu-
ture cooperation between the two organizations.  Discus-
sions were held on the possibilities to cooperate in the areas
of biosafety and biosecurity, carrying out joint scientific and
technical conferences, and  support of commercialization
and advancement of the S&T development of organizations
in the Ukrainian medical community.

The STCU Governing Board convened its 29th meeting on
19 November in Kyiv, Ukraine, The Board approved 9 new
regular projects for a total of $250 thousand plus EURO 1.0
million, and approved 17 new Partner Projects (valued at
$1.8 million and EURO 700 thousand) plus 14 Partner
Project extensions (valued at $1.4 million and EURO 572
thousand).  The Board also approved 9 STCU-Azeri Tar-
geted Initiative projects, totaling $370,409 and EURO
50,711 (with $445,401 in matching funds from the Azeri
National Academy of Sciences), and for the first time, 6
STCU-Moldovan Targeted Initiative projects, totaling
$124,989 and EURO 16,906 (with $149,991 in matching
funds from the Moldovan Academy of Sciences).
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STCU SIGNS COOPERATION STATEMENT WITH UKRAINIAN MEDICAL
SCIENCES ACADEMY

29TH STCU GOVERNING BOARD MEETING HELD IN KYIV



On 26 November, three STCU scientists from Kyiv,
Dnipropetrovsk and Kharkiv participated in Seed Forum
Investment Event in Kyiv - an event sponsored by Royal
Norwegian Embassy in Ukraine. Each scientist took part in
an earlier Pitch Training Seminar organized by the Seed
Forum. Then the scientists made their pitch presentations
during the Forum. The Seed Forum gives start-up compa-
nies seeking capital an opportunity to present their busi-
ness concepts to investors at investor matchmaking forums.

On 24-27 November, STCU and the Ukrainian Institute of
Engineering Thermophysics & Scientific Engineering Cen-
tre Biomass, with financial support from the U.S. Environ-
mental Protection Agency (EPA), jointly organized a
training  workshop on "Carbon Finance Mechanisms in
Ukraine".  Approximately 60 representatives from more
then 30 institutions all over Ukraine attended the work-
shop.
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SEED FORUM IN KYIV

WORKSHOP ON CARBON FINANCE MECHANISMS IN UKRAINE
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The year 2009 saw a continued reduction in the overall annual amount of new STCU project funding, compared with
the record funding year 2006.  In 2009, the STCU Governing Board approved over $13.9 million (USD equivalent)
in new projects, a decrease of approximately $1.2 million (USD equivalent) in total new project funding compared
with 2008, and a decrease of approximately $5.9 million (USD equivalent) compared with the STCU’s record year
of 2006.

New Partner Project funding in 2009 saw a slight increase in levels as compared to that achieved in 2008, but still well
below the record-highs of 2006 and 2007.  The $7.6 million USD in total new Partnership Project funding that was
approved by the STCU Governing Board in 2009—as with 2008—was in line with amounts that were recorded by
STCU in the early 2000s (2002 and 2003).  In 2009, new project funding from all Partner organizations represented
54.9% of the total amount of new STCU project funding approved during the year.  Thus, in three of the last four years
(2008 being the exception), Partner Project funding represented more than half of the overall total funding, and un-
derlines the important role played by the Partners in STCU activities.

As in previous years, external auditors from both Lubbock Fine and the Defense Contract Audit Agency audited the
financial management and accounting systems, as well as the system of internal controls for both the operations of the
STCU administration and STCU-funded projects.  Furthermore, in 2009, the STCU was audited by the Office of the
Inspector General of the Government of Canada.  This was the first time that the STCU was audited by this agency,
and the results of this audit can be found on the STCU’s website at:
www.stcu.int/documents/stcu_inf/reports/audit/2009/.

Lubbock Fine Chartered Accountants audited the 31 December 2009 financial statements, a copy of which may be
obtained in the Document Center of the STCU website at:  www.stcu.int/documents/stcu_inf/reports/audit/2009/.
Some weaknesses were identified in conjunction with the 31 December 2009 financial statement audit and will be cor-
rected during the course of 2010.

The Defense Contract Audit Agency audited six projects during 2009, and worked closely with technical auditors
from various organizations (e.g., the U.S. Department of Energy) on most of these DCAA audits to produce both fi-
nancial and technical audit findings.  The project audits performed by DCAA and the technical auditors identified
only minor weaknesses which also will be corrected during 2010.
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Overall, new approved project funding for STCU declined again in 2009, compared to the previous year.  This was
due to a decline in the level of Regular Project activity, which was greater than the slight increase in the combined
level of Partner and Targeted Initiative projects.  Thus, the year 2009 continued the steady downward trend in total
new project funding that STCU has seen since its peak year of 2006 (see Financial Section for details).

However, there may be signs of a possible transition in the types of projects within the STCU portfolio of active proj-
ects. The past dominance of the Regular Projects (i.e., projects funded by the original ex-Soviet WMD scientist en-
gagement programs of Canada, the EU, and the U.S.) has gradually been replaced by the more narrowly targeted
Partners Projects and Targeted R&D Initiative Projects.

This trend, if sustained, could push STCU to adjust its administrative approach and organizational profile towards
managing fewer, more tailored projects.  In fact, preparing for this possible transition is part of the reason that the Sec-
retariat proposed designing a Targeted Research Program in 2009 (which is now in its pilot development phase).

In 2009, the STCU Governing Board approved and financed 115 new projects, totaling approximately $13.9 million
(USD equivalent; $5.92 million USD plus EURO 3.66 million).  In addition to this $13.9 million USD amount from
the STCU Funding Parties, approximately $1.6 million USD in project co-financing was contributed separately by
the STCU Recipient Parties of Ukraine, Azerbaijan, Georgia, and Moldova, under the 2009 Targeted Initiative Pro-
gram. 

The Governing Board approved 19 Regular Projects in 2009, totaling approximately $3.7 million (USD equivalent;
$1,083,758 USD plus EURO 1,880,128).  This is nearly a 47% decline from the total Regular Project funding re-
ceived in 2008.  The approved Regular Projects for 2009 covered numerous scientific research areas, with the primary
interest reflected in environmental/non-nuclear energy technologies, industrial technologies, and biotechnol-
ogy/agricultural sciences/medicine.  These new Regular Projects will engage 219 former weapon scientists in col-
laboration with scientific colleagues from Canada, Europe, and the United States.

In addition to these 19 Regular Projects, there were 3 approved Institute Sustainability Projects (totaling $998,964
USD equivalent) that were the first such projects to be funded under the pilot Institute Sustainability Program.
Rather than focused on collaborative S&T research, these 3 Institute Sustainability projects are focused on improv-

REGULAR PROJECT ACIVITY



ing the existing capabilities of institutes that employ large numbers of former weapon scientists.  The goal of these proj-
ects is to strengthen the ability of institutes to become successful and self-reliant in attracting multiple sources of re-
search work and funding, so that these organizations can continue employing their cadre of scientists in peaceful,
civilian work (including their senior scientists that once worked on Soviet WMD and advanced military weapons
R&D).

Of the many examples of Regular Projects approved in 2009, two projects are highlighted below: 

• STCU Project 4841 (financed by Canada, $299,870) is assessing various materials for use in supercritical water
convection loops for the next generation of nuclear reactors.  The supercritical water reactor (SCWR) is in-
cluded in the Technological Roadmap for Generation IV Nuclear Systems, and SCWR research and technology
development is included in Canada’s plans for the next evolutionary step in CANDU nuclear reactor technol-
ogy.  In Project 4841, scientists from Canada’s AECL-Chalk River Laboratories are collaborating with 27 sci-
entists (14 of whom are former weapon scientists) from the Ukrainian National Science Center, Kharkiv
Institute for Physics and Technology (KIPT) to develop advanced tools and methodology for assessing the be-
havior of candidate structural materials subjected to neutron irradiation in water under high pressure and out-
let temperatures of up to 550OC.  The advanced skills of KIPT experts in structural materials design and testing,
along with experience in simulation of reactor irradiation using gamma-, electron- and ion- irradiation, will be
employed for reactor materials characterization. A specially designed Supercritical Water Convection Loop
with an irradiation cell coupled to an electron acceler-
ator at KIPT (8-10 MeV, 10 kW) will be the primary
facility for corrosion and mechanical tests of materials
under electron irradiation. Computer simulations and
investigations of specimens before and after irradiation
in the convection loop will provide the design-relevant
data. The comparatively short set-up and irradiation
time, the low cost compared to nuclear reactors and the
possibility to investigate the irradiated materials out
of hot cells will make the proposed methodology very
efficient. 

• In Project 3802 (financed by the European Union,
EURO 201,384), which was completed in 2009, Euro-
pean researchers from the University of Hohnheim
(Germany) collaborated with a joint Azeri-Georgian
scientific team to develop a biotechnology that combined selected plants and microorganisms to clean oil-pol-
luted soils in an environmentally safe manner. The innovation of this new phytoremediation method is the joint
and synergistic application of both bacterial microorganisms and the plants’ ecological potential, which allows
oil-polluted soils to be cleaned more intensively and completely than under current remediation methods.  The
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joint team includes 10 Georgian scientists (including 6 former weapon scientists) from the Durmishidze Insti-
tute of Biochemistry and Biotechnology (Tbilisi) and 9 Azeri scientists (including 5 former weapon scientists)
from the Institute of Microbiology (Baku).  The team demonstrated the effectiveness of their phytoremediation
method through several model experiments, with oil contamination in experimental ground plots being reduced
by some three times their initial levels over a 6-week period. The technology is effective both for areas with
long-term oil pollution and in cases of accidental spills.

In spite of fears that the global economic crisis would negatively impact STCU Partner activity, 2009 turned out to
be relatively successful for the STCU Partners Program.  For all of 2009, 55 new Partner Projects and Partner Proj-
ect Extensions were approved by the STCU Governing Board—as opposed to 43 projects in 2008—all totaling ap-
proximately $7.6 million (USD equivalent; $5.59 million USD plus EURO 1.46 million euros).  This is only slightly
below the $7 million (USD equivalent) reached in 2008.  Further, the approximately $3.95 million (USD equivalent)
in new Non-Governmental Partner Project funding (i.e., projects financed by private-sector and academic Partners)
made 2009 the third highest annual funding total for STCU in this important category (following the all-time high
of $4.67 million USD in 2007 and the $4.24 million USD reached in 2008).  Of great importance is a fact that these
55 Partner Projects engaged 447 former weapon scientists in outsourced research directed toward specific industrial
and scientific market needs. Working with western Partners gives these former weapon scientists valuable experi-
ence of bringing their scientific capabilities to the international industrial and scientific markets. 

Fourteen new Partners (3 Governmental and 11 Non-Governmental) joined STCU in 2009, thus bringing the total
number of STCU Partner organizations to 203: 26 Governmental Partners and 177 Non-Governmental Partners.
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PARTNER PROJECT ACIVITY

Before introduction of plants & bacteria                6 months after introduction of plants & bacteria 
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NEW RANDOM LASER MEDIA FROM SEMICONDUCTOR NANOCOMPOSITES 

A new class of random laser media has been developed as a
result STCU Project 4034, a project financed by the EU for
EURO 94,360. Nine Moldovan scientists (including 6 for-
mer weapon scientists) from the Institute of Applied
Physics (Chisinau) developed these laser media based on
semiconductor/oxide nanocomposites produced using elec-
trochemical technologies. The proposed technology has ad-
vantages in its compatibility with optoelectronic and
photonic circuit integration, simplicity, and cost effective-
ness.  A variety of nanolasers and microlasers have been de-
veloped using zinc oxide (ZnO) nanostructures such as
hexagonal nanorods, cylinders, tetrapods, and other specific
nanostructures. A fascinating property of the technology is
the possibility of these nanostructures self-assembling into
microstructures like cylindrical, spherical or planar assem-
blies. The developed nanolasers and microlasers can be used
as coherent radiation sources in optoelectronic microcir-
cuits, photonic systems, identification and security sys-
tems.

Project 4034 caught the interest of other institutions, such
as Alexander von Humboldt Foundation (Germany) and
the U.S. Civilian Research & Development Foundation
(CRDF).  In fact, both of these organizations provided ad-
ditional financing for the purchase of specialized equip-
ment to expand the technology.  The Moldovan Academy
of Sciences also provided extra financial support to the
team’s research.   Finally, building on the results of Project
4034, the team has prepared two EU Framework Program
7 proposals, one of which includes the French collaborator
on Project 4034 (from CNRS, France) as the FP7 project
coordinator. 

Figure 1. Nanolasers on Zinc Oxide (ZnO)
nanorods and tetrapods developed under Proj-
ect 4034.

Figure 2. Zinc Oxide (ZnO) Microstructures As-
sembled from Nanostructures as Laser Media.
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NEW METHOD OF “SIDE POPULATION" PROGENITOR 
CELL IDENTIFICATION 

Under Project 3919 (funded by the European Union, EURO 161,000), nine Ukrainian scientists from the In-
stitute for Problems of Cryobiology and Cryomedicine, and the Institute for Scintillation Materials, jointly de-
veloped new technologies for preparing and transplanting endocrine gland specific stem cell material (“side
population” cells) to treat severe endocrine deficiency and to recover damaged hormone functions. Transplan-
tation of isolated “side population” cells from adult and newborn endocrine glands resulted in some hormone level
recovery in laboratory animals in controlled experiments. The project team elaborated a new strategy for
stem/progenitor cell isolation from the adrenal and thyroid glands using advanced methods of fluorescent dyes
cell staining and fluorescent activated cell sorting.  The success of side population cell transplantation in animal
experiments gives hope for a new medical approach to treating human patients suffering from severe hormonal
deficiencies. 

Thyroid side population cells grafted
under the kidney capsule of rat on the 26th
day after transplantation.

Fluorescent microscopy of adrenal cells that
were stained by DiOC(3)18; nuclei counter-
staining by PI.
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Among the new Partner Projects approved in 2009 were:

• An STCU Partner Project, financed by a U.S. company, is developing high quantum efficiency organic lu-
minophores for use in electronic displays and screens.  The project team consists of 6 scientists (among them 3
former weapon scientists) at Institute of Single Crystals (Kharkiv, Ukraine).  The project goal to develop new
original and patentable luminescent materials having high quantum efficiency for use as the light converters in flat-
panel displays, light sources for many applications, and other uses where highly fluorescent materials provide an
applications advantage. These materials can be useful to produce electroluminescent displays, organic light emit-
ting diodes (OLEDs), lighting, and many other electroluminescence-based displays, devices, and products. 

• Under STCU Partner Project P347 ($150,000 USD), the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services’
Biotechnology Engagement Program is financing the work a team of 18 scientists (9 of them former weapon sci-
entists) from the Ukrainian Institute of Epidemiology and Hygiene (Lviv) and Central Sanitary-Epidemio-
logical Station (Kyiv) to create a model Geoinformational System for epidemiological surveillance of
tuberculosis in the western Ukrainian region of Lviv.  For the first time in Ukraine, this project will use Geo-
graphical Information Systems (GIS) to analyze the geographical distribution of tuberculosis and assess rela-
tionships with environmental features that contribute to the spread of the disease. GIS is valuable for developing
and improving TB prevention and control strategies, for analyzing geographic distribution of disease through
time to reveal trends, patterns, and relationships that are difficult to elucidate using other analytical methods.
The Ukrainian team will analyse drug resistant tuberculosis in the Lviv region, define “high-risk” zones in the
region, define social demographic, epidemiological characteristics of TB foci, and cross-correlation between
them and TB population morbidity. 
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NEW SOURCE OF IONS AND NANOPARTICLES FROM SEMICONDUCTOR 
MATERIALS 

STCU Project #4520 is a STCU-Azeri Targeted Initiative projects,
co-financed by the United States ($24,966 USD) and the Azeri Na-
tional Academy of Sciences  ($24,966 USD).  The project engages 7
scientists (5 of whom are former weapon scientists) of the Institute
of Physics (Baku) to create an new ion source on the basis of pure
semiconductors and their compounds as the working substance. The
purpose of the project is to obtain ions and charged nanoparticles of
semiconductor substances for creation of surface quantum structures
and vacuum technology.  For the first time, nanometer-scale semi-
conductor particles will be produced by means of an edge source with
a porous tip.
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The Targeted R&D Initiatives Program continued with cycles completed with Ukraine, Azerbaijan, and Georgia.
More importantly, the first-ever Targeted Initiative cycle was completed in Moldova, with the Academy of Sciences
of Moldova.  All together for 2009, 38 Targeted Initiative projects were approved and jointly funded by the STCU
and each of the Recipient Parties.  For both the number of approved projects and the project funding amount, these
are the highest totals ever achieved in the four-year-old Targeted Initiatives Program.

• For the fifth completed STCU-Ukraine Targeted Initiative cycle, 12 Targeted R&D Initiative projects were
approved.  The total amount of STCU funding for these 12 projects was $373,854 USD plus EURO 161,292,
with approximately $597,340 USD in matching funds provided by the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine.

• For the second completed STCU-Azerbaijan Targeted Initiative cycle, 9 Targeted R&D Initiative projects were
approved.  The total amount of STCU funding for these 9 projects was $370,409 plus EURO 50,711, with ap-
proximately $445,400 USD in matching funds from the Azeri National Academy of Sciences.

• For the third completed STCU-Georgian Targeted Initiative cycle, 11 Targeted R&D Initiative projects were
approved.  The total amount of STCU funding for these 9 projects was $231,622 USD and EURO 109,421,
with approximately $383,220 USD in matching funds provided by the Georgian National Science Foundation. 

• For the inaugural STCU-Moldovan Targeted Initiative cycle, 6 Targeted R&D Initiative projects were ap-
proved.   The total amount of STCU funding for these 6 projects was $124,989 USD and EURO 16,906, with
approximately $149,990 USD in matching funds from the Moldovan Academy of Sciences.
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TARGETED R&D INITIATIVES
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NEW NANO-MATERIALS BASED ON PRESSURE-ORIENTED CARBON
NANOTUBES 

STCU Project 4359 is a STCU-Ukrainian Targeted Initiative project, totaling approximately $100,000, with ap-
proximately $25,000 from the U.S., EURO 18,324 from the EU, and approximately $50,000 from Ukraine. A
team of 10 scientists (7 of whom are former weapon scientists) from the B. Verkin Institute for Low Tempera-
ture Physics and Engineering (Kharkiv) and the Institute of Physics (Kyiv) developed a novel technology for
the production of macroscopic samples of a new nanostructural material based
on 1.1 GPa pressure-oriented single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT). 

To take full advantage of the carbon nanotubes properties, a material is often
needed in which the carbon nanotube bundles are oriented in the pre-assigned di-
rection. The production of such a material is challenging, permitting only mil-
ligrams of material to be obtained. Project 4359
produced greater than 1 gram samples of prop-
erly-oriented single-walled carbon nanotubes.
The obtained samples have been used to investi-
gate the low temperature dynamics of the physi-
cal properties of carbon nanotubes. For the first
time, the radial thermal expansion of single -
walled nanotube bundles was measured at very
low temperatures (2—120 deg K). The project
team found that the physical properties of the car-
bon nanotubes bundles changed dramatically
under the extremely low temperatures (less than
5.5 deg K). The data obtained are important for
understanding how new carbon nanomaterials can be applied in aerospace hardware operating in low tempera-
tures conditions.
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In the 2009 pilot phase of the Institute Sustainability Pro-
gram (ISP), 6 selected institutes were invited to prepare
their institute sustainability proposals (and associated pre-
sentations) with the help of external consultants (the Uni-
versity of Missouri “International Technology
Commercialization Institute”) and collaborators. A set of
meetings were conducted to explain the Institute Sustain-
ability Program, to educate institute leadership on impor-
tance of strategic planning, and to coach them throughout
the process. Preliminary ISP assessments were conducted
by external consultants, based on meetings and interviews
with institute directors and senior management, and the in-
stitute draft proposals and presentations were reviewed and
critiqued by STCU and the consultants. Finally, ISP pro-
gram funds were used to support the travel of the institutes’
directors, vice-directors and Chief Technology Commer-
cialization Officers to Canada, to make their Institute Sus-

tainability Project proposals to the Funding Party representatives during the 6 May Advisory Committee Meeting
in Ottawa.

At the 28th Governing Board Meeting in Baku, 3 of the 6 ISP proposals were accepted for funding by the Funding
Parties.  These 3 ISP projects were started in the latter half of 2009 and will continue for approximately 2 years.  At
the first stage of the 3 ISP projects, institutes are concentrating on:

• Training of the project participants

• Audit of scientific and technical developments of the institute

• Preparing applications for research projects within the framework of international and regional programs

• Institute internal normative base improvement

INSTITUTE SUSTAINABILITY PROGRAM



During 2009, Ukrainian CTCOs worked on establishing an
Association of Professionals for Commercialization in
Ukraine (APCU). The APCU Association was officially
registered in Ukraine in April. The main aims of the APCU
Association are:

• To assist CTCOs and former weapon R&D institutes
in the development of R&D for civilian commercial-
ization in Ukraine;

• To assist in the promotion of technology transfer in-
terests and rights of specialists and professionals of
technology transfer in Ukraine. 

The APCU Association already received an invitation from
Georgian CTCOs to join similar efforts and to work together.
The Agency of Technology Transfer in Azerbaijan, which was
formed by Azeri CTCOs in 2008, continues to hold regular
monthly meetings to discuss ideas and to share new knowledge received by CTCOs. Georgian CTCOs decided to cre-
ate a consortium of scientific institutes in facilitating the development of high-technology, small- and medium busi-
nesses in Georgia to promote science commercialization, innovation activity and launching research intensive
production. Also, 15 Georgian and 14 Azerbaijan CTCOs took English language courses, with the courses co-financed
by the CTCOs themselves and by STCU funding.

Finally in 2009, the development of the CTCO Program in
Moldova began its next phase with the start of an independ-
ent assessment of the commercialization potential of 10
Moldovan institutes and universities involved in CTCO pro-
gram. STCU invited experts from the Institute of Intellec-
tual Property and Rights of Ukraine and from the
North-East Regional Center of Innovative Development,
State Agency of Ukraine for Investments and Innovations to
conduct the assessment.

Among of the main results of Azeri CTCOs activity in 2009
was the creation of the Innovations Centre in the Azerbai-
jan National Academy of Sciences (ANAS).  

In the beginning there was the idea to create an Innovations Centre in the ANAS. This idea was submitted to the
CRDF for funding and at the end of 2009 this project was approved.  Now Centre of Innovative Researches is estab-
lished in the ANAS. Elbay Babaev, an STCU-trained CTCO, is a director of the Centre.  Within the structure of the
Centre of Innovative Researches is the special Department of Technology Transfer, in which the Technology Trans-
fer Centre of ANAS (CTCOs trained by STCU) will operate as its staff. 
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CHIEF TECHNOLOGY COMMERCIALIZATION OFFICERS (CTCO)
PROGRAM



STCU initiated an assessment of barriers for technology
transfer and commercialization in Ukraine. Understanding
such barriers helps STCU and its Parties to evaluate the
extent to which STCU Sustainability Programs can be ef-
fective in launching former weapon scientists and institutes
on paths of successful self-sustained growth.  The study by
the Intellectual Property Rights Institute in Kyiv used the
Delphi method to interview 14 Ukrainian experts in the
field.

The study showed that, generally speaking, there are both
cultural and legal barriers within Ukraine and its scientific
community, which make it difficult to commercialize tech-
nologies developed at former weapon institutes.  Among the
more significant barriers found in the study were:

• The lack of knowledge, experience and preparedness
for commercialization among key governmental officials,
scientific leaders, industrial enterprises, and the scientists
themselves. 

• Insufficient financing or financial incentives for inno-
vation from the state and foreign investors.

• Shortcomings in the Ukrainian legal structure that
tend to discourage S&T innovation. 

• Absence of an effective infrastructure for innovation,
including physical degradation of scientific institutes facil-
ities, unfavorable attitudes toward Ukrainian-developed
technology (compared to similar technologies available
worldwide) and the non-profit status of state-owned sci-
entific institutes.

• Ineffective management of research activities at institute level, including lack of desire by institutes and scien-
tists to pursue follow-up innovative or commercial development of their research.
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S&T COMMERCIALIZATION BARRIERS ASSESSMENT
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SMALL CANADIAN COMPANY DEVELOPS PARTNERSHIP WITH UKRAINIAN
SCIENTISTS 

Tesseral Technologies, Inc. is a small company in Calgary, Canada that develops commercial software packages
for highly accurate wave field modelling. This modelling is an integral part of geophysical methods of oil and gas
exploration. 

Since being introduced to STCU in 1997, Tesseral Technologies has financed four STCU Partner Projects
(totaling in all over $300,000 USD) to develop new software packages and improve the company’s exist-
ing products.  In these Partner Projects, Tesseral Technologies has engaged the talents of scientists from
Ukrainian State Geological Research Institute and Subbotin Institute of Geophysics.  

Says Ivan Iantsevitch (Tesseral Technologies Vice-President for Marketing and Business Development):

“From the very inception, Tesseral Technologies Inc. was facing the problems common for most of the high-
tech start-ups - difficulty to attract talent with very limited resources. Through the Canadian government,
we were introduced to the STCU [Partners] program and the benefits it can bring to a company like ours.
After the initial trip to Ukraine that was sponsored by the Canadian International Development Agency
program, the principals of the company… engaged highly qualified professionals that are still the integral
and vital part of Tesseral's team. It is through the synergy between the Ukrainian scientists and Canadian
researchers [that] we were able to create a truly international company that - despite of its small size - can
compete at par with larger companies in our industry.  

From the very beginning, we came to appreciate the client-friendly and open approach of the STCU per-
sonnel, their sincere desire to help and professionalism.   

Now, Tesseral Technologies Inc. and its products are [a]well-recognized brand in the petroleum industry
world-wide. The world-class companies such as Shell, Schlumberger, Saudi Aramco, PetroBraz, GazProm
and CGG-Veritas are using our product for both petroleum exploration and research. Of course, the current
difficult economic times is challenging for any company, especially if it is involved in such a volatile sector
as oilfield services. However, working through STCU and using Ukrainian consultants as a part of the proj-
ect allowed us to continue our research efforts as planned, whereas our competitors were forced to drasti-
cally reduce theirs.

In conclusion, we would like to thank all the good people of STCU that were integral for our success and sur-
vival as a company.”
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In June, the STCU organized two subject matter expert workshops as part of the pilot phase of the Targeted Research
Program.  The key feature of the Targeted Research Program (TRP) is to connect STCU Recipient Party scientists
and their research proposals with new Partners or other Funding Party donor programs pursuing S&T work in spe-
cific priority fields of global security.  To accomplish this connection, STCU organized these expert workshops to
bring Funding Party technical experts and program directors together with Recipient Party officials and leading sci-
entists with common interests in two active areas of global security: nuclear forensics development (to combat nu-
clear and radioactive material trafficking), and improved biosafety/biosecurity practices at biological facilities.

The first of these expert workshops, the Nuclear Forensics
Experts Workshop was held in Tbilisi, Georgia on 8-9 June.
The workshop included participants from Europe, the
United States, Ukraine, Georgia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia.
The International Science and Technology Center (ISTC)
also sent a representative to talk about ISTC programs in
the nuclear forensics area.  A plenary session featured pre-
sentations from Funding Party officials on their nuclear
forensics R&D needs and program funding opportunities,
and Recipient Party officials presented their own nuclear
forensics programs and R&D capabilities.  The workshop
then broke into panel discussions to develop a list of rec-
ommended R&D directions to guide individual project pro-
posal development, and other programmatic actions (such
as infrastructure improvement projects to enhance the Re-
cipient Parties capabilities and coordination in cross-re-
gional nuclear forensics cooperation).

The second of the workshops, a Biosafety/Biosecurity Experts Workshop, was held on 25-26 June in Annecy, France.
Using a similar format as the Nuclear Forensics Workshop, the Biosafety/Biosecurity Workshop featured 34 partic-
ipants from 10 countries, including the STCU Funding Parties, Recipient Parties, and delegates sponsored by the
ISTC.  As with the Nuclear Forensics Workshop, this workshop produced a series of recommendations for further proj-
ect development in areas such as cross-regional epidemiological surveys, collaborative civilian research projects on spe-
cific diseases identified by the workshop experts, and development of a Biosafety/Biosecurity network for information
and best-practices exchange among the STCU Parties (and possible beyond to other neighboring countries and re-
gions).

TARGETED RESEARCH PROGRAM EXPERT WORKSHOPS



In June, STCU and a delegation of Ukrainian scientists joined the International Science and Technology Center
(ISTC) delegation in participating in the FISA 2009 workshop, held in Prague, the Czech Republic (which coin-
cided with period of the Czech Presidency of the European Council).  FISA is a European Commission/EURATOM
meeting on nuclear technology, physics and related areas. The event was opened by then-Deputy Director General
for Research Mr. Zoran Stančič, and had about 400 participants. The STCU delegation prepared 5 posters present-
ing targeted research achievements of Ukrainian scientific organizations.  STCU presented an overview on STCU in-
volvement in past and future cooperation between the EU and Ukrainian scientists.

One outcome on the margins of this event was STCU endorsement of a joint cooperation proposal from the National
Academy of Sciences of Ukraine to the DG Research Director for EURATOM, in which STCU would play a role in
implementing future projects and related activities (probably under the STCU-Ukrainian Targeted Initiatives Pro-
gram).  This proposed cooperation was accepted by the European Commission and will be developed more fully dur-
ing 2010.  

On 12-16 October, STCU led a delegation of Ukrainian and Georgian scientists to a series of workshops and net-
working meetings in Sweden.  The STCU-supported travel used funds in a special Swedish Travel Grant supple-
mentary budget, which was created by the Governing Board in 1998 to make use of remaining Swedish contributions
to the STCU during the time Sweden held an STCU Governing Party position (in 1998, Sweden relinquished its
Governing Party position to the European Union).  STCU planned this mission in conjunction with the Swedish
Presidency of the European Council.

The goal of this Sweden mission was to develop new international collaborative research projects, share experiences,
define priorities, and meet industrial partners. The STCU-sponsored scientists participated in three different events:
(I) a series of thematic workshops organized by the Royal Institute of Technology, where some of the STCU scien-
tists could meet Swedish collaborators on their current STCU projects, (II) the Scandinavian Technical Fair
“TEKNISKA MASSAN,including a visit to Uppsala University, and (III) the “ENERGY 2050 Conference" organ-
ized by the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences and hosted at the University of Stockholm.

After this, five Ukrainian scientists were invited to participate in additional training periods to deepen the research
interaction and understanding with Swedish researchers (this training was paid for by a special grant from the Swedish
government).
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EU-SPECIFIC WORKSHOPS AND MISSIONS



On 29-30 September in Kyiv, STCU joined the Canadian
Embassy and the National Space Agency of Ukraine
(NSAU) in jointly organizing this business-to-business net-
working event aimed at exploring trade, science and tech-
nology and investment opportunities between Canadian
and Ukrainian companies, organizations, institutions and
universities in the aerospace and aviation sectors. Key
speakers included Canadian Ambassador Daniel Caron,
STCU Executive Director Andrew Hood, and Olexander
Zinchenko, the General Director of NSAU. This was a fol-
low-up event to the Canada-Ukraine Business Summit held
in Dniepropetrovsk and Kyiv in March 2008. Out of this
March summit, the aerospace sector was assessed to have
the most potential for a single-sector follow-up summit.

Twenty three Canadian participants attended representing
13 companies, organizations and government agencies, in-
cluding the Canadian Space Agency, the National Research
Council of Canada, the Aerospace Industries Association of
Canada, Bombardier, MDA - Space Communications, No-
vAtel, L-3 Westcam, Smart Economy, and MDS AeroSup-
port. There also were participants from 48 Ukrainian
entities, including the National Space Agency of Ukraine
and other institutes, universities, research organizations,
and companies. The Summit coincided with the signing a
$254 million deal between MDA - Space Communications
and the National Space Agency of Ukraine to supply
Ukraine's first space communications satellite and related
ground station upgrading. This satellite is planned to be
launched on a Ukrainian rocket in late 2011 and serve the
expanding Ukrainian and Eastern European telecommuni-
cations and broadband needs.
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CANADIAN-UKRAINIAN AEROSPACE BUSINESS SUMMIT



Throughout the year 2009, STCU organized 10 Intellectual Property/Tech Transfer round-table workshops, attended
by former weapon scientists, CTCOs, and other interested scientific personnel throughout the STCU Recipient Par-
ties.  In addition to these round-tables, in October STCU conducted a Technology Transfer Workshop with experts
from ISIS Innovations, Oxford University.  The target audience of the workshop was Chief Technology Commer-
cialization Officers (CTCOs) of CIS countries, with representatives of institutes involved in the Institute Sustain-
ability Program (ISP), and with Ukrainian high technology small- to medium enterprises. In addition, representatives
of different organizations (state and private) involved in technology transfer participated in the workshop. In gen-
eral, there were about 60 participants during the 2 days.

On April 1st a round table for CTCOs was conducted in F. Tavadze Institute of Metallurgy and Material science,
Tbilisi, Georgia . The agenda and aim of the round table were the same with round table in Institute of Physics, Baku,
Azerbaijan. Dr. Givi Kochoradze, CTCO Executive Director of International Center for Advancement of Research,
Technology and Innovation suggested Creation of Technological Center on the Base of Consortium of Scientific In-
stitutions and its Retrained Scientists as Managers.

In addition to the discussions Regina Sattarova from
STCU's Uzbekistan office met with all the CTCO's to re-
view the draft booklets of technologies that each country is
preparing. She is planning to develop booklets that will in-
clude IPF's (Institute Profile Forms) and TPF's (Technol-
ogy Profile Forms) for Georgia, Azerbaijan and Uzbekistan
at this time.

One of the new aspects for CTCO's is the MPES Program
(Matchmaking & Promotional Event Support). Under this
program each CTCO can propose a travel request to do pro-
motion for his or her Institute at a western technology ex-
hibition. The CTCO selects the technologies to promote,
selects the exhibition, and plans the meetings with compa-
nies at the exhibition. The goal of MPES is to give more re-
sponsibility to the CTCO's for seeking government and
commercial projects.

STCU is also providing financial support for English language courses to Georgian and Azeri CTCO's to improve their
English.
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Look Ahead to 2011: 
Advance Planning for STCU Budget 
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Current Activity Indicators Still Pointing DownCurrent Activity Indicators Still Pointing Down

• Partner Projects Still a Surprising Unknown Factor: 
– Partner Funding Held Up Better Than Expected in 2008 & 2009 (2010 Also Holding).  But the 2006-2007 

Peak Years Are Now “in the past” (First-Ever Decline in Partner Project Expenditures Occurred in 2009)

• Targeted R&D Initiatives and Supplemental Budgets Present a Mixed Picture:
– Increasing Number of TI Projects, But Each TI Project Appears to be Less Work than a Regular Project 

(according to STCU staff survey data)
– SB Activities May Require More Staff Work (for Planning, Preparation, Logistics), But Hard to Measure the 

Impact on Staff Resources Given Declining Project Work (and Small Share of SBs to Overall Expenditures)

Regular Projects Continue Decline; Partner Projects are a Wild Card; TRDI Program & SBs Could Be 
Expanded (if Parties Support Expansion), But Still May Mean Less Work.

GBM-Approved New Project Funding
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New Strategy:  Still In ProcessNew Strategy:  Still In Process

• AC Strategy Working Group Meeting (26 March)
– Group Consensus Appeared To Be:

• Parties See Future Need for STCU; STCU Considerations Should Be Separated from 
ISTC Issues

• For Now, Party Financial Support Appears to be Constant at the Current Levels for Next 
2 Years

• New Strategy is Needed to Realistically Open Future Lines of Business for STCU, but 
No Clear Consensus on Exactly What Those Business Lines Should Be

– Work on Other Security/Stability Themes and Policy Areas?
– Work with Other Classes of Scientists (esp. those working on dual-use R&D)?

In Short,“Status Quo” Through 2012

– Stay with 2004 Strategy for Now; Develop New Strategy for Beyond 2012

• How Far can STCU Mandate be Expanded Beyond ex-Soviet WMD Scientist Focus? 
(Legal Considerations? Limits Imposed by Party Political/Program Justifications?)

• Is Expanding STCU Geographic Focus Realistic? Feasible? (Same Legal, Political, 
Programmatic Issues?)



Looking Ahead to 2011 Budget PlanningLooking Ahead to 2011 Budget Planning
• Assume No Major Change in Trends

– Fewer Regular Projects, Maybe More TI 
Projects, Partners an Unknown

– Little Staff Turnover Due to Continued 
Economic Weakness

– Growing Overhead  Expense Ratios (i.e., 
Higher AOB vs Lower Activity Levels )

• Abandoned Past 10% Overhead Guide

• Increased per-Staff Member Expenses  
(25% Increase in Staff Salaries in 2008)

• Hedges for Uncertainty (e.g. Uzbek, 
Dnipropetrovsk Offices in 2010)

• “Zero Growth” AOB for 2011? (Adjust If 
Clear Opportunities Arise?)

– Maintain Current Staff (Management to 
Reassign/Eliminate Open Positions as 
Necessary)

– Consolidate Ukrainian Work In Kyiv HQ 
(i.e., close/reduce Ukrainian Regional 
Offices)? 

– Factor in SB Workload (SB Increases Could 
Be Offset By Decreased Project Activity)

• Assume Similar AOB/SB Situation in 
2012, and Then What?

Administrative Operations Overhead
(AOB Expenditures Equal 10% of Project Expenditures When 

Project Expend. Line equals AOB Expend. Bar)
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SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY CENTER IN UKRAINE 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO 
THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
 

    

We have audited the financial statements, set out on pages 3 to 23, of the Science and 
Technology Center in Ukraine as at December 31, 2009 at the request of the Board of 
Governors. The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet at this date, the 
Statement of Revenues and Expenditure and Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 
31 December 2009, Accounting Policies and the Notes to the Financial Statements.  
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management of the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. Except as discussed in the following three paragraphs, we conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our modified audit opinion. 
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Overview of the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine (STCU) 
 
The Science and Technology Center in Ukraine (STCU) is an intergovernmental 
organization dedicated to nonproliferation of technologies and expertise related to 
weapons of mass destruction, including nuclear, biological and chemical weapons, 
and their delivery systems. 
 
The United States, Canada, Sweden and Ukraine signed the agreement establishing 
the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine on October 25, 1993 (referred to as 
“the STCU agreement”). The European Communities acceded to the STCU 
agreement on November 26, 1998, and in so doing, replaced Sweden as a party to the 
STCU agreement. 
 
The STCU helps develop, finance and monitor science and technology projects that 
engage the former Soviet weapons community in Ukraine, Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan, 
Georgia, and Moldova in peaceful civilian activities.  The Funding Parties of STCU 
projects include: the signatories to the STCU agreement, Japan as a sponsor of the 
STCU agreement and Partners (government and non-government) approved by the 
Board of Governors. 
 
The STCU is a legal entity and has been registered by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
of Ukraine as an intergovernmental organization with its headquarters in 7a Metalistiv 
Street Kiev 03057. The STCU has an international staff of 60 full time scientific, 
financial and administrative experts. 
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements represent the results of the STCU as an individual entity and 
have been prepared under the historic cost convention and in accordance with 
applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) except for International 
Accounting Standard (IAS) 16 relating to Property, plant and equipment as explained 
in the policy for Property, plant and equipment. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in United States Dollars (USD), as 
required by the STCU’s Financial Regulations. 
 
Project Activity 
 
The STCU authorizes and funds scientific projects which are performed at institutions 
within Ukraine, Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan, Georgia, and Moldova.  Projects are financed 
by the Funding Parties either individually or jointly. All project agreements include a 
maximum amount of funding to be provided by the Funding Parties. 
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The project activity is accounted in the financial statements as follows: 
 

Project Recognition  
 
The projects are only recognized after signature of the project agreement 
between the STCU and the recipient institutes. Upon signature, the total project 
value is credited to the relevant Funding Parties Designated Capital Account in 
proportion to the level of funding agreed by each party. To the extent that the 
value of the signed projects are not covered by advance payments from the 
respective Funding Parties, a receivable is set up in the financial statements. 
 
Project Expenditure 
 
Project costs consist of three main components: grants to scientists, equipment 
and overhead. The STCU, being a non-profit making inter-governmental 
organization, does not envisage that any economic benefits will accrue to it in 
the foreseeable future from the financing of these projects. Accordingly all 
project costs incurred, including the purchase of project equipment, are charged 
immediately to the Statement of Revenues and Expenditure. Projects are 
performed on a cost reimbursable basis, with a ceiling of funds specified in the 
project agreements.  
 
The STCU temporarily retains 50 percent of the allowable overhead for the 
individual projects, in accordance with the project agreements, until the 
submission, and acceptance of, the financial and technical reports prepared by 
the project recipients. 
 
When a project has been completed, any funds committed in excess of actual 
costs are credited back to the relevant Funding Parties’ Undesignated Capital 
Contributions Account. 
 
Project Revenues 
 
Project revenues recognized during the year in the Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure are amounts equal to the total value of project expenditure incurred 
and written off during the year. These revenues are transferred from the Funding 
Parties Designated Capital Accounts for Projects. 
 

Administrative and Supplemental Revenues and Expenditure 
 

Administrative Operating Budget 
 
Administrative Revenues recognized in the Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure during the year equate to the amounts approved by the Board of 
Governors for the Administrative Operating Budget for the year. The budget is 
set and agreed at meetings of the Board of Governors in the previous financial 
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year. The agreed budgeted amounts are transferred from the Designated Capital 
Accounts for Administrative Expenses of the United States, Canada, the 
European Union, and Ukraine. 

 
Administrative Expenses are charged to the Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure when incurred and are matched against the Administrative 
Revenues for the year. 

 
Any surplus/(deficit) Administrative Revenues arising during the year are re-
allocated to the Undesignated Capital Contributions Accounts of the United 
States, Canada, and the European Union in the same ratio as the Administrative 
Revenues contributions. 
 
Supplemental Budget 
 
Supplemental Budgets are approved by the Board of Governors to provide 
funding for activities that are outside the scope of the Administrative Operating 
Budget and not directly related to the implementation of projects. Upon 
agreement of the Supplemental Budgets at Governing Board Meetings the total 
amount of such budgets approved are credited to the relevant Funding Parties 
Designated Capital Accounts for Supplemental Budgets in proportion to the 
level of funding agreed by each party. 
 
Supplemental Budget expenses are charged to the Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure when incurred. Supplemental Budget revenues recognized in the 
year are amounts equal to the value of the Supplemental Budget expenditure 
incurred in the year. These revenues are transferred from the Funding Parties 
Designated Capital Accounts for Supplemental Budgets. 

 
Partner Fees and Interest 
 
Partner projects may be charged a fee, usually 5% of the total project cost, for 
the services provided by the STCU to administer the project, which are 
recognized in the Statement of Revenues and Expenditure.  The surplus partner 
fees are allocated to the Undesignated Capital Contributions Accounts of the 
United States, Canada, and the European Union in the same ratio as their 
Administrative Revenues contributions. 
 
Interest earned on Funding Party bank accounts is recognized in the Statement 
of Revenues and Expenditure. Surplus interest earned is allocated to the Funding 
Parties Undesignated Capital Contributions Accounts, with the exception of 
Partner interest earned, which is allocated to the Undesignated Capital 
Contributions Accounts of the United States, Canada, and the European Union 
in the same ratio as their Administrative Revenues contributions.  Interest 
earned on administrative and supplemental bank accounts is allocated to the 
Undesignated Capital Contributions Accounts of the United States, Canada, and 
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the European Union in the same ratio as their Administrative Revenues 
contributions. 

 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are acquired either for the Center’s own use or for the 
projects and comprises of the following: 
 

Center 
 

Property and equipment acquired by the Center for administrative operations 
consist of vehicles, office furniture and equipment, including computer 
hardware and software and communications devices. All commitments and 
expenditures for administrative equipment are made in accordance with the 
Board’s approved annual budget. 
 
The cost of the Center’s equipment is charged to the Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure when acquired.  

 
Project Equipment 
 
Since the STCU does not expect to derive any foreseeable economic benefits 
from the ownership of project equipment, the expenditure incurred during the 
year on equipment under each project, is written off to the Statement of 
Revenues and Expenditure. 

 
IAS 16 requires Property, plant and equipment with useful lives of beyond the current 
accounting period be capitalized and depreciated over their useful lives. The 
management believe that because of the unusual nature and circumstances of its 
activities, strict interpretation and application of this standard would not properly 
match the revenues specifically contributed by the funding parties with the related 
expenditure. Accordingly, the property, plant and equipment acquired for use by the 
Center and also the projects are charged in full upon acquisition to the Statement of 
Revenues and Expenditure in accordance with the accounting policy for property, 
plant and equipment set out above. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions 
 
All foreign currency transactions are converted into USD at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting 
from movements in the exchange rates between the date of the transactions and the 
date of settlement are charged to the Statement of Revenues and Expenditure under 
the administrative operating budget in the period incurred. Activities in Azerbaijan, 
Uzbekistan, Georgia, and Moldova are transacted in USD or Euros and, therefore do 
not result in any gains or losses from currency exchanges except for those arising 
from USD to Euro exchange differences. 
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European Union Funded Projects 
 
Project agreements are concluded in Euros if solely funded by the European 
Union, and in USD if projects are jointly funded. 

 
For project agreements concluded in USD (jointly funded), the European Union 
provides funding in Euros, before the projects are signed by the STCU 
Executive Director, and the STCU immediately converts the Euros upon receipt 
into USD.  The total amount of USD provided by the European Union is 
therefore known before the start of the project, and thus the project agreements 
are written to match the amount of USD received. 

 
Financial instruments 
 
 Financial instruments are classified and accounted for, according to the substance 

of the contractual arrangement, as either financial assets, financial liabilities or 
equity instruments. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the company after deducting all of its liabilities. 

 
 Receivables – Amounts due from funding parties 
 
 Amounts due from funding parties are recognised on signature of the project 

agreement or approval of the Administrative Operating Budget or Supplemental 
Budget and are carried forward at invoiced amount. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less. 

 
 Amounts payable 
 

Amounts payable are recognised and carried forward at invoiced amounts. 
 

Designated capital 
 

Designated capital represents funding party contributions to the STCU which 
have been designated for a specific purpose by that funding party. Designated 
capital is initially recognised at committed amounts. 
 
Undesignated capital 
 
Undesignated capital represents funding party contributions to the STCU which 
have yet to be designated. Undesignated capital is initially recognised at received 
amount. 
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  2009 2008  
  Note USD USD  
     
REVENUES     
       
 Project Revenue  15,902,171 18,657,918  
 Administrative Revenue      
 - Administrative Operating Budget  1,875,809 2,206,214  
 - Supplemental Budget  2,566,932 2,529,333  
 Partner Fees  211,291 206,296  
 Interest Income  264,431 951,169  
   20,820,634 24,550,930  
       
EXPENDITURE         
       
 Project Expenditure 1 15,902,171 18,657,918  
 Administrative Expenditure 2     
 - Administrative Operating Budget  1,526,567 2,326,467  
 - Supplemental Budget  2,566,932 2,529,333  
   19,995,670 23,513,718  
       
       
NET SURPLUS 3 824,964 1,037,212 
       
       

There are no recognised gains or losses other than the results for the year as set out 
above.
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 2009  2008
Note USD  USD

Cash Flows from Operations    
    

Cash Inflows    
    

Net Cash Received from Funding Parties 13 14,066,756  15,585,292
  0  
Interest Income and Partner Fees Received  478,875  1,239,466
  0  
Total Cash Inflows  14,545,631  16,824,758
    
Cash Outflows    
    
Project Expenditure  (17,192,775)  (18,435,590)
    
Administrative and Supplemental Expenditure  (4,188,956)  (4,177,686)
    
Total Cash Outflows  (21,381,731)  (22,613,276)
    
Net Cash (Outflows)/Inflows From 
Operations 

 (6,836,100)  (5,788,518)

    
Net Revaluation Gains/(Losses)  310,993  (814,167)
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  33,213,300  39,815,985
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  26,688,193   33,213,300

 
The net revaluation gains principally relate to amounts contributed from funding 
parties in currencies other than USD which are held in the source currency of the 
original contribution.  These notional cash gains are fully offset by revaluations of 
funding parties capital accounts held in a source currency other than USD.  
Revaluation gains are not actual cash movements but a reflection of the changing 
value of the source currency.  Foreign currency risk is managed as set out in the note 
15. 
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1. Project Expenditure 

 USD
Amounts charged to the Statement of Revenues and Expenditure:  
2009 15,902,171
2008 18,657,918
2007 19,305,482
2006 17,434,164
2005 16,291,450
2004 17,675,237
2003 17,937,532
2002 12,317,194
2001 10,100,633
2000 7,096,198
1999 7,904,566
1998 7,351,641
1997 4,987,540
1996 1,339,245
1995 -
Cumulative project costs incurred to December 31, 2009 174,300,971

Project expenditure comprises of grants to scientists, equipment costs, travel costs 
and overhead costs. 

Under the terms of the individual project agreements signed, title to equipment 
costing less than 2,500 USD is vested with the recipient institutes upon acquisition.  
The title to all other equipment provided to projects will remain with the Center until 
termination or completion of the project at which time the title will be vested in the 
recipient institutes unless prior to or on that date the Center informs the project of its 
intention to retain title. 

2. Administrative Expenditure 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
a) Administrative Operating Budget   
Business Operations 322,163  254,081
Public Affairs 14,471   15,221
Personnel 748,743  717,079
Personnel Support and Development 201,199  192,821
Legal, Auditing and Banking 86,093  569,478
Property, Plant and Equipment 95,332   85,654
Headquarters and Branch Offices 58,566   492,133
 1,526,567   2,326,467

 
Included within ‘Legal, auditing and banking’ are exchange gains of 140,099 USD 
(2008 – included losses of 324,691 USD). 
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Personnel costs comprises grants made to the grantees in the STCU headquarters 
and six regional offices located in Lviv, Kharkiv, Dnipropetrovsk (closed in 
November 2009), Baku, Tashkent, Chisinau, and Tbilisi. 
 
From March 2009 the STCU have occupied offices provided by the Ukrainian 
government for which the STCU does not pay rental or utility charges. The 
comparative charge for these expenses of 417,370 USD was shown under 
‘Headquarters and Branch Offices’ and Administrative Revenue. No reliable 
estimate can be made of the fair value of the rental and utility benefit provided in 
2009.  
 2009  2008
 USD  USD
b) Supplemental Budget   
Technical, Collaborator and Contractor Travel 
Support 

54,425  70,213

Information Technology Support (1,050)  -
Business Training/ Sustainability Group Support 163,644  114,710
Patent Support 25,223  1,016
Travel and Mobility Support 445,205  454,370
Expert Review and Advisors 46,701  55,090
Seminars/ Workshops Support 55,307  49,096
Service Contracts 1,589,117  1,763,508
Targeted Training  7,360  18,150
Institute Sustainability 140,974  3,053
Biosecurity and Biosafety 40,026  127
 2,566,932  2,529,333

3. Net Surplus Revenues Over Expenditure 

The net surplus of 824,964 USD comprises the following; 
 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
Surplus/(Deficit) Administrative Budget Revenues 343,982  (118,061)
Investment Income 264,431  951,169
Partner Fees 211,291  206,296
Other Revenue/(Expense) 5,260  (2,192)
 824,964  1,037,212

The net surplus set out above has been allocated to the Funding Parties in accordance 
with the accounting policies and agreed responsibilities. 

4. Taxation 

Under the terms of the agreement establishing the STCU and also the Statute 
approved by the Board of Governors, the STCU is exempted from any form of 
taxation.  However, only since December 1999 has the relevant legal framework 
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been implemented in Ukraine, allowing the STCU to recover its VAT on 
Administrative expenditures.  

The VAT incurred on project expenditures has been charged to the Statement of 
Revenues and Expenditure as part of the project costs because, for the time being 
there is no practical process in place for the recovery of VAT for project purchases 
within Ukraine, Georgia, Uzbekistan, Moldova, and Azerbaijan.  Management of the 
STCU continues discussions with the Governments of Ukraine, Georgia, Uzbekistan, 
Moldova, and Azerbaijan to investigate the possibility of establishing a procedure to 
recover project VAT for purchases made within these respective countries. However, 
the management of the STCU does not expect to recover the amounts incurred to 
date. Accordingly the VAT incurred on project expenditures has been charged to the 
Statement of Revenues and Expenditure as part of the project costs. Project items 
purchased abroad by the STCU and imported into Ukraine, Georgia, Uzbekistan, 
Moldova, and Azerbaijan are exempt from VAT. 

The VAT on administrative expenditures for 2009 has been credited back to the 
corresponding expense account to which it relates. 

5. Amounts Due from Funding Parties – Due Within One Year 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
    
United States 1,047,373  936,155
Canada 3,030,803  2,237,025
European Union 1,717,652  1,834,589
Partners 2,778,461  2,475,535
 8,574,289  7,483,304

Amounts Due From Funding Parties – Due After One Year 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
    
Partners 995,940  590,767
   
Total due from funding parties 9,570,229  8,074,071

6. Other receivables 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
   
VAT Recoverable 22,720  13,527
Other Receivables 28,781  56,212
 51,501  69,739
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7. Prepayments and accrued income 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
   
Prepayments 27,743  35,801
Accrued Interest 10,357  13,512
 38,100  49,313

8. Amounts payable - projects 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
   
Grants Payable 927,624  1,871,747
Overhead Payable 55,899  130,875
Overhead Retainage 628,987  900,492
 1,612,510  2,903,114
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9. Designated Capital Contributions - Projects 

Designated Capital Contributions (DCC) represent the amounts committed on signed projects net of project expenditures incurred to date. 
 

United 
States

Canada Japan European 
Union

Partners Total

USD USD USD USD USD USD

Balance at January 1, 2009 2,124,568 2,092,200 - 7,616,876 7,656,664 19,490,308

New Projects Signed During 2009 1,627,313 2,248,668 - 3,862,967 7,621,129 15,360,077

Revaluation of Project Agreements - 173,814 52,216 226,030

Adjustment for Closed Projects (58,716) (1,125) - (39,829) (410,925) (510,595)

Transfer to Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure 

 0

Expenditure Incurred on Projects in 2009 (1,735,951) (1,762,321) - (5,900,458) (6,503,441) (15,902,171)

Balance at December 31, 2009 1,957,214 2,577,422 - 5,713,370 8,415,643 18,663,649

Note: Included within DCC projects is 1,291,524 USD (2008 –1,287,954 USD) relating to signed projects in Uzbekistan which have yet to commence. 
Management of the STCU believe there is a possibility these projects may not take place due to current difficulties between the STCU and the Government of 
Uzbekistan and that the funding may have to be returned to undesignated capital of the funding parties. However, until formal communication is received 
from the Government of Uzbekistan that these projects will not be allowed to progress the STCU still has a commitment to fund these projects. 
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9.   Designated Capital Contributions – Projects (continued) 

Designated Capital Contributions (DCC) represent the amounts committed on signed projects net of project expenditures incurred to date. 
 

United 
States

Canada Japan European 
Union

Partners Total

USD USD USD USD USD USD

Balance at January 1, 2008 4,872,210 711,520 44,875 8,802,222 10,632,290 25,063,117

New Projects Signed During 2008 539,534 2,241,371 - 4,742,168 6,190,059 13,713,132

Revaluation of Project Agreements - (192,553) (21,168) (213,721)

Adjustment for Closed Projects (57,293) (13) (1,632) (16,986) (338,378) (414,302)

Transfer to Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure 

 

Expenditure Incurred on Projects in 2008 (3,229,883) (860,678) (43,243) (5,717,975) (8,806,139) (18,657,918)

Balance at December 31, 2008 2,124,568 2,092,200 - 7,616,876 7,656,664 19,490,308
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0. Designated Capital Contributions - Administration 
United States Sweden Canada European 

Union
Partners Ukraine Total

USD USD USD USD USD USD USD

Balance at January 1, 2008 823,402 - 188,493 691,949 - - 1,703,844

Additional Contribution for 2008 28,333 - 28,334 28,333 - 417,370 502,370

Transfer to Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure 

(851,735) - (216,827) (720,282) - (417,370) (2,206,214)

Administrative Budget 2009 613,305 - 341,397 921,107 - - 1,875,809

Balance at January 1, 2009 613,305 - 341,397 921,107 - - 1,875,809

Transfer to Statement of Revenues and 
Expenditure 

(613,305) - (341,397) (921,107) - - (1,875,809)

Administrative Budget 2010 499,884 - 437,310 841,146 - - 1,778,340

Balance at December 31, 2009 499,884 - 437,310 841,146 - - 1,778,340
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1. Designated Capital Contributions - Supplemental 
United 
States

Sweden Canada European 
Union

Partners Ukraine Total

USD USD USD USD USD USD USD
Balance at January 1, 2008 1,483,647 109,633 645,862 1,224,030 286,381 - 3,749,553

Supplemental Budgets Approved 1,168,652 - 1,097,000 1,081,291 58,151 - 3,405,094

Transfer from/(to) Undesignated Capital 
Contributions 

(351,718) 2,777 (179,105) (380,277) - - (908,323)

Adjustment for Revaluation - - - (17,072) - - (17,072)

Transfer to Statement of Rev. and Exp. (1,146,929) - (466,757) (826,681) (88,966) - (2,529,333)

Balance at January 1, 2009 1,153,652 112,410 1,097,000 1,081,291 255,566 - 3,699,919

Supplemental Budgets Approved 966,000 - 1,366,000 1,172,439 12,000 - 3,516,439

Transfer from/(to) Undesignated Capital 
Contributions 

(146,079) 615 (410,882) (295,074) - - (851,420)

Adjustment for Revaluation - - - (2,775) - - (2,775)

Transfer to Statement of Rev. and Exp. (1,007,573) (64,043) (686,118) (783,441) (25,757) - (2,566,932)

Balance at December 31, 2009 966,000 48,982 1,366,000 1,172,440 241,809 - 3,795,231
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2. Undesignated Capital Contributions 

United States Sweden Canada Japan European 
Union

Partners Other Total 

USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD 
Balance at January 1, 2009 4,993,382 - 56,144 34,507 3,260,496 4,910,717 (95,160) 13,160,086 
Advances Received from Funding Parties 392,000 - - - 3,674,880 3,566,355 - 7,633,235 
Transfer to Designated Capital for Signed 
Projects (1,627,313) - (50,000) - (3,862,967) (3,596,370) - (9,136,650) 
Adjustment for Closed Projects 58,716 - 1,125 - 39,829 262,766 - 362,436 
Allocation of Surplus Income for 2009 274,149 615 153,020 34 397,146 - - 824,964 
Adjustment for 2009 Other Purposes (1,717) - (901) - (2,642) 18,513 5,260 18,513 
Adjustment for Revaluation - - - - 241,841 - - 241,841 
Transferred between Funding Parties 386,424 - - - - (386,424) - - 

Returned to Funding Party - - - (34,541) - (21,688) - (56,229) 
Transfer from Designated Capital – 
Supplemental Budget 146,079 - 410,882 - 295,074 - - 852,035 
Transfer to Designated Capital – Supplemental 
Budget (936,155) (615) - - (993,467) - - (1,930,237) 
Transfer to Designated Capital - Administrative 
Budget (418,511) - (159,388) 

 
- (1,049,232) - - (1,627,131) 

 
Balance at December 31, 2009 3,267,054 - 410,882 - 2,000,958 4,753,869 (89,900) 10,342,863 

Note: The amount of 5,260 USD under ‘Other’ relates to the performance of the 2008 and 2009 audit. This amount is a timing difference between when the 
audit cost is accrued as an expense for financial statement purposes, and when the amount is accounted for in the Administrative Operating Budget (AOB).  
The audit cost is expensed in the year before it is included in the AOB.  Thus, the 2009 audit cost is accrued as an expense in the 2009 Fiscal Year Financial 
Statements; however, the cash disbursement will affect the 2010 AOB. 
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United States Sweden Canada Japan European 
Union

Partners Other Total 

USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD 
Balance at January 1, 2008 5,620,264 - - 31,667 4,203,976 4,091,373 (92,968) 13,854,312 

Advances Received from Funding Parties - - 740,591 - 5,330,520 2,841,450 - 8,912.561 

Transfer to Designated Capital for Signed 
Projects 

(539,534) - (656,100) - (4,742,168) (1,900,298) - (7,838,100) 

Adjustment for Closed Projects 57,293 - 13 1,632 18,699 92,268 - 169,905 

Allocation of Surplus Income for 2008 478,014 2,777 21,421 1,208 522,690 - - 1,026,110 

Adjustment for 2008 Other Purposes 1,068 - 229 - 895 - (2,192) - 

Adjustment for Revaluation - - - - (536,948) (50) - (536,998) 

Transferred to International Science and 
Technology Center (ISTC) 

- - - - - (155,875) - (155,875) 

Transfer from Designated Capital – 
Supplemental Budget 

351,720 - 179,105 - 380,277 - - 911,102 

Transfer to Designated Capital – Supplemental 
Budget 

(333,804) (2,777) - - (1,283,948) (58,151) - (1,678,680) 

Transfer to Designated Capital - Administrative 
Budget 

(641,639) - (229,115) - (633,497) - - (1,504,251) 

Balance at December 31, 2008 4,993,382 - 56,144 34,507 3,260,496 4,910,717 (95,160) 13,160,086 

Note: The amount of (2,192) USD under ‘Other’ relates to the performance of the 2007 and 2008 audit. This amount is a timing difference between when the 
audit cost is accrued as an expense for financial statement purposes, and when the amount is accounted for in the Administrative Operating Budget.  The audit 
cost is expensed in the year before it is included in the AOB.  Thus, the 2008 audit cost is accrued as an expense in the 2008 Fiscal Year Financial Statements; 
however, the cash disbursement will affect the 2009 AOB. 
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13. Net cash received from funding parties 

 2009  2008
 USD  USD
   
Canada 3,048,811  3,077,578
Partners 6,985,606  7,177,194
United States 392,000  -
Japan (34,541)  -
European Union 3,674,880  5,330,520
 14,066,756  15,585,292

14. Financial commitments 

a) Science and Technology Center in Ukraine 
No material commitments existed at December 31, 2009. 

 
b) Funding parties 

At December 31, 2009 the funding parties had approved but not signed 24 
projects with a total funding of 2,307,209 USD (2008 – 3,864,103 USD). The 
agreements for these projects are expected to be signed in 2010. 

15. Financial Instruments 

The STCU’s financial instruments comprise: 

- Cash, liquid resources and short term receivables and payables that arise directly 
from the STCU’s operations. 

These financial instruments are initially recorded at their nominal value and are 
stated in the accounts at their nominal value reduced by appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts.   

 
The main risks arising from the STCU’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, 
credit risk, and foreign currency risk. The STCU management reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. 
 
a) Liquidity Risk 

The STCU’s assets comprise mainly of cash and bank deposits which are 
readily realisable to meet funding commitments. 
 

b) Credit Risk 
The STCU manage credit risk by only paying project expenses up to the 
amount of cash received from the relevant funding party. The credit risk is 
therefore limited to project expenses incurred in excess of cash received from 
the relevant funding party. At December 31, 2009 the maximum credit risk 
was 323,215 USD (2008 – 323,708 USD). 
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c) Foreign Currency Risk 
The STCU’s income and expenditure and net assets could be affected by 
currency translation movement as some of the STCU’s assets and revenues are 
denominated in currencies other than USD. The STCU manages foreign 
currency risk through keeping funds in the currency of commitment (USD or 
Euros) and minimizing funds held in local currency. 
 
At the year end, financial assets and liabilities held by the STCU in currencies 
other than USD were as follows; 

 
 

 2009 
 Amounts 

due from 
Funding 

Parties

Cash at 
Bank

Amounts 
payable 

 USD USD USD 
  
Euros 2,514,661 9,275,693 308,570 
Ukrainian Hryvna - 101,453 974 
Azeri Manat - 2 - 
 2,514,661 9,377,148 309,544 

 
 2008 
 Amounts 

due from 
Funding 

Parties

Cash at 
Bank

Amounts 
payable 

 USD USD USD 
  
Euros 1,788,460 11,888,258 873,495 
Ukrainian Hryvna - 13,094 12,153 
Azeri Manat - - - 
 1,788,460 11,901,352 885,648 
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The following table details the effect on the Net Surplus and Undesignated 
Capital Contributions (UCC) at December 31, 2009 from a 10% change in US 
dollar exchange rates against the exposed currencies listed above, with all 
other variables held constant. 
 

 2009 2008 
 Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on
 Net Surplus UCC Net Surplus UCC
 USD USD USD USD
USD increase by 
10% against: 

 

Euros - (1,043,799) - (1,163,929)
Ukrainian Hryvna (8,249) (8,249) (86) (86)
Azeri Manat - - - -
 (8,249) (1,052,048) (86) (1,164,015)
 
USD decrease by 
10% against: 

 

Euros - 1,148,178 - 1,280,322
Ukrainian Hryvna 11,119 11,119 94 94
Azeri Manat - - - -
 11,119 1,159,297 94 1,280,416
 
The method used to arrive at the possible risk of 10% was based on both 
statistical and non-statistical analyses. The statistical analysis has been based 
on currency movement for the last five years. This information is then revised 
and adjusted for reasonableness under the current economic circumstances. A 
standard rate of 10% is considered possible given past volatility trends.  
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Mr A Hood – Executive Director 
Mr C Bjelajac – Chief Financial Officer 
Science and Technology Center in Ukraine 
7A Metalistov Street 
03057 Kyiv 
Ukraine 

 

 

Dear Sirs 

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY CENTER IN UKRAINE 
FINANCIAL AUDIT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 
MANAGEMENT LETTER – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

I.  Introduction 

We have now completed our audit of the financial statements of the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine 
(STCU), based in Kyiv, Ukraine, for the year ended 31 December 2009. 

Our audit was performed in accordance with internationally recognised Auditing Standards. In planning and 
performing our audit we have considered the STCU's internal control structure in order to assess the level and 
nature of auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements. 

In conjunction with our review of internal controls in place for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 we 
have also reviewed the Management Letter which we prepared for the year ended 31 December 2008, to 
ascertain whether the weaknesses identified in 2008 still exist in 2009. 

In general we have noted that a number of improvements have been made by the STCU in the internal control 
and recording of transactions, however a number of weaknesses still exist where controls and procedures can be 
improved. All of the observations noted last year are still considered to be of significance and require some form 
of corrective action, although we would point out that in relation to some of these issues significant improvements 
have been made. The outstanding matters not yet resolved are all referred to in the body of this letter.  

Please find below a summary of the observations, full details of which are set out in section II of the report. 
These observations were discussed with Curtis “B.J.” Bjelajac prior to written comments being obtained, which 
are incorporated in this report. 
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AUDIT FINDINGS SUMMARY 
 

         
Item 

No. 

                                                                                                                
Title 

STCU 
Comments 
(Agreed or  

Not Agreed) 

   

1. Contracts not dated. Partially 
Agree 

2. Financial and technical monitoring of projects Agree 

3. Travel grants Partially 
Agree 

4. Partner project expenses incurred in excess of cash contributions Partially 
Agree 
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Title: Contracts not dated. 

Description: In the management letters for the years ended 31 December 1999 to 
2008 we noted that in the majority of cases, contracts concluded with 
project beneficiaries were not dated by all parties. 

During the course of our audit it was noted that in many cases, the 
contracts are still not being dated. However, we would point out that this 
issue relates primarily to the institutes not dating contracts and the 
STCU was noted to have dated all contracts. 

As well as not being in accordance with standard business practice, the 
issue of not dating contracts creates a further difficulty with respect to 
capital accounts. The accounting policy of the STCU states that a 
project becomes designated when the contracts are signed. If all 
participants do not date the contract, then the accounting policy 
becomes harder to implement, and increases the risk that capital may 
be wrongly credited to either designated or undesignated project capital. 

Whilst we have noted improvements in this respect since this issue was 
first noted in the management letter for the year ended 31 December 
1999, there were still instances during the year where the contracts 
were not dated by some of the parties. 

Recommendation: All contracts must be dated by all signatories. The project accountant 
must check that the contract is signed and dated by all parties, before 
releasing any monies to the institute under the contract. 

STCU Comment: The STCU partially concurs with Lubbock Fine’s recommendations, and 
will continue to work to ensure that all contracts are dated by instructing 
the STCU Senior Specialists to work with all parties (e.g. lead institutes, 
participating institutes, and partners) to ensure that they date their 
signatures.  The STCU agrees that the dating of signatures is standard 
business practice.  However, the STCU must weigh the interest of the 
Parties to see the project agreements signed in a timely manner in order 
to meet their non-proliferation goals, versus teaching and enforcing a 
Western standard business practice.  Dating signatures was not a 
general business practice in the former Soviet Union, which hampers 
the STCU in its efforts to teach the institute directors this Western 
business practice.  Thus, although the STCU agrees that the dating of 
signatures is a very good practice, it will not return undated contracts to 
the signatory parties, because this will slow down even more an already 
lengthy process of starting an STCU project.  The STCU feels that any 
further delays in the starting of STCU projects would be detrimental to 
the aforementioned non-proliferation goals of the Parties. 

Finally, the STCU would like to inform the readers of this management 
letter that significant strides have been made in addressing this issue.  
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For example, at the most recent STCU Governing Board (GBM 29), 
fifty-five (55) projects and extensions were approved for funding.  Of 
those 55 projects, all but five (5) of those projects were signed and 
commenced by the date of publication of this management letter.  Of the 
remaining fifty (50) projects that were signed and commenced, all but 
fourteen (14) of those fifty (50) projects had dated signatures for all 
parties (this according to the STCU’s own investigation).  Of the 
fourteen (14) projects missing signatures, twelve (12) of the projects 
were partner projects that require the signature of not just the STCU 
Executive Director and recipient institutes, but also the signature of 
Western partners.  In a number of these cases, the signatures that were 
missing dates were those of Western partners.  .   

In sum, the STCU would like to emphasize that progress has been 
made on this issue, and that the problems are not always arising 
because of actions of STCU or of those parties located in the STCU 
recipient countries (i.e., recipient institutes). 
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Title: Financial and technical monitoring of projects 

Description: At the request of the U.S. Department of State, the STCU completed 6
U.S. sponsored technical and financial project audits in FY2009. The 
STCU worked closely with the U.S. D.O.S., Defence Contract Audit 
Agency (USDCAA), and a select group of technical auditors to perform 
integrated financial and technical audits. 

In relation to these audits the following issues were noted: 

(a) In relation to Project P326 and 3984 it was noted that the certain 
project participants were related. The STCU was unaware of these 
relationships and they had not been notified to the STCU in 
accordance with Standard Operating Procedure VI, Project Financing.

We note that only one of the related project participants was 
subsequently assessed to be under qualified for her role and that she 
has been removed from the project.  

We also noted that the senior specialist on project 3984 was unaware 
that all relationships between project participants need to be 
disclosed in writing with the project proposal. 

(b) It was noted for Project 3984 that six participants had worked in 
excess of 220 days in a year without gaining approval from the STCU, 
in breach of Standard Operating Procedure 24. 

(c) In relation to project P316 the project manager timesheet had not 
been approved by two other project participants as required by 
Standard Operating Procedure VII, Participation and Recording Hours 
Worked on STCU Projects. 

(d) In relation to project P316 one project participant did not personally 
complete the monthly and quarterly totals on her timesheet. 

(e) In respect of projects P316 and 3984 certain project institutes had not 
labelled equipment purchased under the project in accordance with 
Standard Operating Procedure XXII, Identification of Equipment 
Purchased for STCU projects.  

Recommendation: In relation to the above we would make the following recommendations: 

(a) With regard to related project participants we recommend that the 
STCU reminds all senior specialists of the need for relationships 
between project participants to be disclosed in writing with the project 
proposal.  

We note that STCU monitoring visits for project P326 and 3894 were 
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delayed due to the force majeure in 2008. 

(b) With regard to the 220 day rules being breached, it is recommended 
that the 220 day report is run on a monthly basis.  Where there is 
evidence that a participant has breached the limit, or is close to the 
limit (210 days for instance) the participant in question should be 
informed on a timely basis to gain authorisation if 220 days are to be 
breached.  Where a grantee continues to work above the 220 limit 
without authorisation, grants in excess of the 220 days should be 
withheld until authorisation is gained. It has been noted that the 
revised procedures introduced from October 2009 address some of 
the issues above.  

(c) With regard to non approval of the project managers time, we 
recommend that the STCU stress the terms contained in the Grant 
Letters to the project manager, that clearly state that time cards are to 
be approved by two other project participants, when the grant letter is 
signed.    

(d) With regards to the time cards not being completed personally by the 
project participant we recommend the STCU stress the terms 
contained in the Grant Letters to the participants, that clearly state 
that time cards are to be completed by personally by the participant, 
when the grant letter is signed.    

(e) With regards to the labelling of equipment purchased for STCU 
projects we recommend the STCU stress to project managers the 
need for equipment to be labelled in accordance with STCU policies 
and procedures at the time equipment is purchased. 

STCU Comment: The STCU concurs with Lubbock Fine’s recommendations and will 
continue to perform the following steps related to these issues: 

a) The STCU agrees with this recommendation and will continue to 
work with the Senior Specialists to remind them of the need for 
relationships between project participants to be disclosed in writing at 
the time of submission of the project proposal. 

b) The STCU will review 220 day requirements on a monthly basis and 
work with grantees to ensure that they acquire permission to work 
more than 220 days when necessary.  In the cases where grantees 
work more than 220 days without authorization, the STCU will 
consider withholding the grant amount in excess of 220 days until 
authorization is finally received. 

c) The STCU agrees with this recommendation and will continue to 
stress to project managers the terms contained in the Standard 
Operating Procedure VII, which clearly state that timecards for project 
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Audit of the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2009 

Management Letter 
 

 

Observation No. 2 

  

managers are to be approved by two other project participants. 

d) The STCU agrees with this recommendation and will continue to 
stress to project participants the terms contained in the grant letter, 
which clearly state that timecards are to be filled in personally by the 
grantee. 

e) The STCU agrees with this recommendation and will continue to 
stress to project managers the terms contained in the Standard 
Operating Procedure XXII that clearly state that equipment 
purchased by the STCU are to be labelled accordingly. 
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Audit of the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2009 

Management Letter 
 
 

Observation No. 3 

  

Title: Travel grants 

Description: In the management letter for the years ended 31 December 2007 and 
2008, we noted a number of weaknesses in the travel grants system.  
During the course of our audit work for the year ended 31 December 
2009 some of these weaknesses were still apparent, however it is noted 
that the STCU has made significant improvements in this area. 

Currently the system within the STCU is to advance travel grants to 
Scientists for subsistence while abroad and other small travel expenses. 
Normally, large hotel and airfares are paid directly by the STCU.  

The accounting at the point of advance is to debit Accounts Receivable 
(Project Grantee), credit Cash / Bank. 

On receipt of the completed travel settlement voucher the STCU will 
debit Travel expense, credit Accounts Receivable (Project Grantee). 
Any amount owed back to the STCU will be recovered from the scientist 
and any amount due to the Scientist will be recorded as a payable 
(usually paid with the next grant payment). 

For supplemental budget travel the system is the same but the 
receivable is recorded under Accounts Receivable from Non STCU/Non 
Project. It should be noted that this error is considerably smaller.  

We have noted significant time delays between when travel has taken 
place and when travel is being reported back to the STCU. This leads to 
a number of issues:- 

a) For travel that has taken place within a financial year but 
has not been reported to the STCU before the year end, the 
expense of travel will be understated with a corresponding 
overstatement of Designated capital for projects; 

b) There exists a possibility that the amount advanced will 
prove to be irrecoverable; 

c) The Scientist could be out of pocket should they be owed 
money from the STCU; 

d) The STCU will not have accurate information in connection 
with remaining Designated Contributed Capital under 
supplemental budgets related to travel.  
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Recommendation: In relation to the above we would make the following recommendations 
with regard to STCU Grantees: 

a) When an advance is made it must be communicated to the 
grantee that receipts and a completed travel settlement 
voucher are to be submitted to the STCU within a specified 
time period (to be in line with SOP 5, i.e. 7 days of travel). 

b) The date of intended travel should be noted on Navision so 
it will appear on the quarterly expense report which is 
included on the project file. This could then be used to 
calculate a rough provision of travel relating to the year.  

c) As part of the quarterly reports prepared by the project 
accountants, a review of travel advances should be made. 
For any travel receipts which have not been submitted 
within the specified time period, the grantee should be 
contacted directly. 

d) Continue implementing policies where grants are withheld 
from grantees, up to the value of the travel advance, if they 
repeatedly ignore requests to submit documents (120 days 
for instance).  

a) When the documents are received from the grantee any 
amounts due to/from the grantee should be settled in the 
next grant payment. 

STCU Comment: The STCU partially concurs with Lubbock Fine’s recommendations.  As 
opposed to previous management letters where the STCU concurred 
with Lubbock Fine, the STCU now would like to only partially concur 
because of a different understanding of what is a “significant” amount of 
unsettled travel advances.  The STCU agrees that the ideal goal would 
be to have no unsettled travel advances at the end of the fiscal year.  
However, given that a number of travellers will travel during December 
and the beginning months of the next year (January and February), it is 
very possible that advances will be made to these individuals that will 
not be settled in time for the closing of the financial statements. 

As of December 31, 2009, the total amount of Accounts Receivable 
(Project Grantee) was $135,082.  Of that amount, $7,750 was for travel 
that took place in December 2009 and $16,560 was for travel that took 
place in January 2010.  Thus, $110,772 was for travel that occurred 
prior to November 30, 2009 ($135,082 less the sum of the December 
and January travel).  While this is unsettled travel amount is not zero, 
given that project expenses totaled $15,902,171 in 2009, the STCU 
disagrees that the $110,772 amount is “significant”.  For comparison 
sake, the readers of this management letter should be aware that this 
observation first arose in the 2007 management letter, when the figure 
for unsettled project travel in the December 31, 2007 financial 
statements was $390,130.  The STCU agreed that this amount was 
significant, and implemented the recommendations put forth by 
Lubbock Fine in that 2007 management letter, bringing the amount 
down to what exists today.   

Furthermore, the reduction in Accounts Receivable from Non 
STCU/Non Project since 2007 has been even more significant.  In 2007, 
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this receivable stood at $165,369, versus $25,200 in 2009.  Of that 
$25,200, $21,063 was for travel that was to occur in 2010.  In other 
words, only the difference of $4,137 was for travel in 2009 that could 
have been shown as supplemental expense in the 2009 financial 
statements. 

Finally, the STCU agrees to continue implementing the 
recommendations set forth by Lubbock Fine since the 2007 
management letter in order to further reduce the amounts of unsettled 
travel. 
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Audit of the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2009 

Management Letter 
 
 

Observation No. 4 

  

Title: Partner project expenses incurred in excess of cash contributions 

Description: During the course of our audit we have noted that as at 31 December 
2009, 17 projects had incurred project expenses in excess of the cash 
the STCU has received for that project from the relevant funding party. 

This means that the Accounts Receivable (A/R) from funding partners is 
in excess of Designated Capital Contributions – Projects (DCC - 
Projects) for each project which exposes the STCU to the risk of bad 
debts. This risk exists as the STCU is the contracting body with the 
project grantees and may therefore be obliged to make grant payments 
in excess of cash receipts from partners. It should be noted that this 
situation has yet to arise. 

The STCU currently has a procedure which stops payments being made 
for projects when DCC - Projects is equal or less than accounts 
receivable.  However, this safeguard still allows expenses to be accrued 
for a project, which could potentially create an obligation for the STCU 
to settle these amounts, whether or not the cash is ever received from 
the funding partner.   

Recommendation: In relation to the above we would make the following recommendations: 

a) As part of the quarter end procedures the amount of 
available funds remaining for the project should be noted by 
the project accountant on the project file (Being DCC - 
project less A/R). 

b) This should be compared to the budgeted spend for the 
following quarter to ascertain if it is likely that the project will 
go into a ‘negative’ funding position in the next quarter.  

c) Where a project does go into a negative funding position, 
the funding partner should be contacted immediately and 
informed of the situation.  The project should be suspended 
if it appears the partner will delay in providing the STCU 
with the next cash payment to fund the project.  

d) Where it is expected that project funding will become 
negative in the next quarter, the STCU should contact the 
partner and remind them of the expected due dates for 
project funding.  

STCU Comment: The STCU partially concurs with Lubbock Fine’s recommendations.  As 
opposed to last year’s management letter, where the STCU concurred 
with Lubbock Fine, the STCU now would like to only partially concur 
because of the following two reasons: 
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Audit of the Science and Technology Center in Ukraine 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2009 

Management Letter 
 
 

Observation No. 4 

a) De Jure – All STCU project agreements contain the 
following condition: 

Article 9.2 – The Center shall not be liable for non-
performance by the Partner or the Recipient(s) of their 
obligations under the Agreement. 

b) De Facto – As pointed out by Lubbock Fine above, there 
have been occasions where Partners have refused to make 
payments for work performed by institutes and grantees.  In 
all cases, the STCU has not been obligated to step in and 
pay for these expenses; in the end, the grantee(s) and 
institute(s) suffered the loss.  The STCU agrees with 
Lubbock Fine that because it has not happened in the past, 
does not mean that it cannot happen in the future.  
However, the STCU believes that the wording in the STCU 
project agreement is very clear on this matter (see point a. 
above). 

The STCU would like to point out to the readers of this management 
letter that in order to work with certain partners (i.e. European 
Commission/CORDIS/7th Framework Programme, EOARD, etc.), the 
STCU has to accommodate payment systems which require work to be 
done by the scientific team in advance, which is then reviewed by the 
Funding Party, and then approved for payment.  For example, of the 
seventeen (17) projects mentioned above, five (5) projects were 
financed via the 7th Framework Programme which follows this model. 

Finally, the STCU agrees to continue implementing the 
recommendations set forth by Lubbock Fine listed above and in the 
2008 management letter in order to further reduce the risks of non-
payment by partners, as this is good business practice in any case.  
However, the STCU will continue the practice of allowing partners to 
accrue expenses in excess of cash received (but not pay cash out in 
excess of cash received), because as highlighted above, STCU requires 
some flexibility in order to accommodate the requirements of its many 
different partners. 
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STCU’s
 

New Partnering Initiative



 

Goal
 

-
 

Attract new sources of funding whilst maintaining primary mandate 
(i.e. redirection of former weapon scientists)



 

Approach
 

-
 

Reposition ourselves to deliver programs of other govt. 
departments within Canada, European Union and USA



 

Initial Focus
 

–
 

Nuclear forensics 



The Role of Nuclear Forensics in Combating 
Nuclear Smuggling & Nuclear Terrorism


 

The ultimate goal of nuclear forensics 


 

To determine the origin and place of diversion of seized nuclear
 

or 
radioactive material



 

To determine its intended use and last legal owner


 

Approach 


 

Detailed characterization of seized material (e.g. activity, isotopic ratios, 
chemical composition, impurities, material age, etc.)



 

Comparison of its characteristics with available databases 



Magnitude of the Problem



 

Engage and build relationships with key stakeholders within Western 
Funding Parties and Recipient Parties 



 

Coordinate activities amongst multiple stakeholders in the WFP and 
RP



Multiple Stakeholders


 

Western Funding Parties


 

US Dept. of Energy, State Department etc.


 

AIDCO (EU) and JRC Inst. of Transuranium
 

elements, etc.


 

Defence
 

Research Development Canada and DFAIT, Health Canada, 
RCMP etc. 


 

Recipient Parties


 

Technical institutions at the forefront of the country’s NF effort


 

Law enforcement authorities


 

Regulatory bodies (nuclear) within the participating countries



Programme
 

Development


 

Infrastructure Component


 

GUAM countries – Nuclear Forensics Network – EU sponsorship



 

Caucuses region ? US sponsorship? EU Sponsorship?


 

S&T Development Activities 


 

US-DOE, Lawrence Livermore Natl. Labs.



 

DRDC, Health Canada, RCMP , RMC, CNSC



 

JRC Inst. Transuranium Elements, AIDCO



 

National Acad. Sciences Ukraine / Azerbaijan/ Georgia / Moldova



# Project Name Institutes Project manager Sum 
Total

National 
Contribution

US CA

1 Creation of Standardized Samples of 
Uranium Ore and Ore Concentrates from 
the main Ukraine Deposits and their 
Analytical Research 
File Name: KIPT_UA_01

Institute of Environmental 
Geochemistry (IEG) Kiev

Lysychenko G.V. Eu 
295,000

Eu 60,000 Yes Yes

2 Creation of highly informative detection, 
localization and identification methods 
for nuclear and radiological materials 
using a portable, position-sensitive 
spectrometer of ionizing radiation 
File Name: KIPT_UA_02

National Science Centre 
Kharkov Institute of Physics 
and Technology 

V. Burtnyak Eu 
190,000

Eu 30,000 No Yes

3 Development of analytical techniques to 
define the elemental composition of 
uranium materials by the X-ray 
fluorescence method 
File Name:KIPT_UA_04

Science Center «Kharkov 
Institute of Physics 

Kutniy Dmitriy 
Vladimirovich, 
PhD

$450,000 No Inform. New source 
of funding

Yes

4 Development and creation of the 
experimental samples for nondestructive 
analysis of uranium materials 
File Name: KIPT_UA_05

Science Center «Kharkov 
Institute of Physics and 
Technology

Kutniy Dmitriy 
Vladimirovich, 
PhD

$300,000 No Inform. New 
sources of 
funding

Yes

5 Development of identification techniques 
of uranium ores in Ukrainian deposits 
and their concentrates by consistent 
phase-chemical and radioactive balance 
data 
File Name: IAP_UA_01

Institute of Applied Physics, 
Kiev

Valter Anton 
Antonovych, DSc

$150,000 Key issue 
to resolve

No



# Project Name Institutes Project manager Sum 
Total

National 
Contribution

US CA

6 Determination of specific admixture in 
intermediate products of Ukrainian 
nuclear fuel cycle 
File Name: IEGCh_UA_01

Institute of Environmental 
Geochemistry, Kiev

Bondarenko G.M 
Koliabina Iryna

$180,000 $36,000 Yes Yes

7 A Study of Attribution Signatures of 
Various Uranium Bearing Materials 
File Name: INR_UA_01

Institute for Nuclear 
Research, Kiev

Volodymyr 
Tryshyn, 
Deputy Director, 
INR,

$400,000 Yes Yes

8 Enhancing National Capabilities and 
Expertise in Nuclear Forensics 
File Name: INR_UA_02

Institute for Nuclear 
Research, Kiev, + Georgia, 
Azerbaijan and Moldova

Volodymyr 
Tryshyn, 
Deputy Director, 
INR,

$250,000 Yes Negotiated

9 Development of analytical techniques for 
radio-chronometry of 90Sr-90Y sources 
File Name: INR_UA_03

Institute for Nuclear 
Research, Kiev, 

Volodymyr 
Tryshyn, 
Deputy Director, 
INR,

$200,000 No New 
source 
of 
funding

10 Threat Risk Assessment of Illicit 
Trafficking of Nuclear Materials in 
Azerbaijan 
File Name: IPhys_AZ

Abdulaev Institute of 
Physics

DrSc. 
A.A.Bayramov

$60,000 No Yes



Accomplishments to Date



 

June  2009
GB endorses launch of new initiative; Experts Workshop held in Tbilisi 



 

Nov. 2009
Action Plan developed / team assembled
Key institutes and other relevant stakeholders (identified
Nat. Academies of Sciences confirm interest in co-funding



 

Jan. 2010
Meeting with WFP in Brussels, confirm plan of action and establish timelines



 

Feb. 2010
Meeting in Kiev with WFP and Recipient Parties key stakeholders (Law 

enforcement, Regulatory orgs and scientific inst. Secure “buy-in”


 

March 2010
Infrastructure project proposal submitted to EU





Accomplishments to Date
 continued 



 

March 2010
“Short Forms”

 

S&T proposals transmitted to WFP for review
Meeting of WFP and Recipient stakeholders (Kyiv)
US DOE commit $1m to initiative



 

April 2010
Joint meeting scheduled with ISTC re. NF initiative 
Projects for development identified
Additional funding proposed by USA and Canada
Positive feedback from EU re. infrastructure project proposal
Established framework for project co-financing



Accomplishments to Date
 continued



 

May 2010
Coordination meeting in Kiev (WFP, Recipient stakeholders)
Establish priority listing  
Initiate full proposal development (interactive process)
Address procedural issues re. STCU’s

 

SOPs for Partner Projects



 

July 2010
Complete project proposal development (Target 8 proposals)



 

September 2010
Start of STCU’s

 

nuclear forensics projects 



Concerns 



 
Timeframes imposed by the Funding Parties



 
Coordination to ensure satisfaction of all stakeholders



 
STCU SOPs. re. Partner & Regular Projects (type of 
Agreement for funded projects



 

Complicated by timing of the available funds (i.e. funding most likely will not 
be linked to GBM)
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Update on STCU’s
 

ISP
 Institute Sustainability Program, 

CTCO Program, and Partner Projects

Governing Board Meeting 
May 27, 2010       Tbilisi, Georgia

Presented by 
Vic Korsun, US Deputy Executive Director

www.STCU.int
 

vic.korsun@msn.com



2

Partner Program Summary 
2010 (6 months)
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Partner Projections for 2010

• Because of the financial crisis we had a rough start during 2009-2010.  
However, we are seeing a rebound for GP and NGP Partners

• $6.2 million in Partner Projects are ready for approval at GBM-30.

• Most of the projects have been funded by Governmental Partners:

– GP:  21 projects for the sum of $ 4.5 million

– NGP:  11 projects for the sum of $ 1.7 million

– GP increase is primarily due to GIPP and we do not see this as a trend.

• Additional $6 million in Partner Project proposals are in the pipeline, and we 
expect $3 million of these proposals may be funded in 2010 for a projected 
total of $9 million. 
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Partner Projections for 2010 (cont’d)
•

 
Partner Project funding increased significantly for 2010 compared to 
2009: 

–
 

approximately $9.0 million projected in 2010 

–
 

compared to $7.6 million in 2009.  

•
 

Added 3 new Partners

–
 

Foundation Mérieux (France)

–
 

Iowa State University (USA)

–
 

UAB
 

–
 

Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona (Spain)

•
 

We foresee new funds in 2010-11 from 2 new STCU 
TRP Initiatives: 
–

 

Bio-Security (from EU for Simferopol) and 

–
 

Nuclear Forensics initiative (from EU for infrastructure, and from 
Canada and US for S&T).



5

ISP
 Institute Sustainability Program 

(6 months)
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ISP Projects Status at 6-Months

1.1.
 

UsikovUsikov
 

Institute of Institute of RadiophysicsRadiophysics
 

and and 
Electronics, Electronics, KharkivKharkiv

2.2.
 

Institute of Technical Mechanics, Institute of Technical Mechanics, 
DnipropetrovskDnipropetrovsk

3.3.
 

Institute of Physics, KyivInstitute of Physics, Kyiv
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#4872 #4872 --
 

UsikovUsikov
 

Institute of Institute of 
RadiophysicsRadiophysics

 
and Electronics, and Electronics, 

KharkivKharkiv

Institute Sustainability Program
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PROJECT GOALS:
INCREASING EXTERNAL FUNDING

•Budget from NASU (55%)

•Industrial contracts (20%)

•Start‐up outputs (10%)

•STCU partner grants (5 %)

•Royalty (5%)

•Rent (5%)

1.1.
 

STCU PARTNER STCU PARTNER 
PROJECTSPROJECTS

2.2.
 

DIRECT CONTRACTSDIRECT CONTRACTS

3.3.
 

JOINT WORKJOINT WORK

4.4.
 

SERVICESSERVICES
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Re-organized Staff Functions
CTCOCTCO‐‐Deputy Director Deputy Director 

 for Science IIfor Science II

R&D Group

Technology 

 development 

 (internal and 

 external research)

IT Group

•

 

Institute WEB‐site

•

 

Inform support

Science & Technique 

 Information Group

Publicity

Inform support

Patent & License 

 Group

•

 

Legislation

•

 

Patent 

 
accompaniment

•Techno audit

•Market research

•Presentations

•Negotiations

•Start‐up 

 companies 

 (documents, 

 creation)

•

 

WEB‐site 

 
development and 

 
progress

•

 

E‐publicity

•

 

GRID‐technology 

 
development

•

 

Cluster ‐

 

Customer 

 
research

Inform 

 accompaniment 

‐exhibitions, work‐

 shops, trainings 

 etc.)

‐translations

‐correspondence

•

 

Patenting support

•

 

Licensing support

•

 

Patent research

•

 

Development of 

 
the IP Institute 

 
documents

•

 

Negotiations
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Successes:
1.

 
Direct Contract from Investor with Radiophysics

 
Solutions (investment, 

project party, licensing, joint patents, royalty)

2.
 

Starting multi-year commercial investment –
 

STCU Partner project 

#Р389 –
 

February 1, 2010

3.
 

Direct Contract with Korean Electric & Technology Institute. 

TOTAL SUM –
 

more than 1 million USD from External 

Sources!

Under discussion:

NORWEGIAN-UKRAINIAN PROGRAM of R&D Cooperation «Joint Applied 

Research & Economic Cooperation»
 

--
 

Approx.  500K USD
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Institute of Physics
 Kyiv, Ukraine 

ROSE –
 

Route Of 
Sustainable Evolution

Prepared exclusively  for Vic Korsun

 

to present  ROSE progress at STCU Board

ROSE,®

 

2009

Institute Sustainability Program
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ROSE’s
 

3 Major Targets

•
 

.

ROSE,®

 

2010

Strategic Management System

improvement

optimization
foster

1

Institute’s:
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Promotion of Science-Intensive Products
Events Accomplished

Exhibitions, workshops etc. 5 in 1st

 

Q and 2 in 3rd

 

Q

E-TTO virtual space created 2d Q

TPFs

TPFs
 

for 5 key technologies were 
developed and printed in 1st

 

Q. The rest 
were developed in 2nd

 

Q and expected to 
be printed in 4th

 

Q.

Commercials
 

for
State TV Broadcaster "World 

Service UTR”
Developed in  2nd

 

Q , on the air in 3rd

 

Q

ROSE,® 2010

2
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Other Activities Completed:
Intellectual Properties Audit
Strategic Audit: PEST => SWOT

Developed and implemented full document package (NDA, regulation
 on IP rights) which formalizes relationships  between inventors and 

Institute
Create two new IP assets

Launched of Best Business Plan Contest
Launch of “SustainAbility”

 

contest

Agreements on Collaboration on Technology Transfer issue with 
innovation centers from RU and UA

Established tight collaboration with EU program  “
 

Support to knowledge 
based and innovative enterprises and technology transfer to business in 
Ukraine”

 

and approved  application for EEN membership 

ROSE,® 2010
-1st

 

Q -2nd

 

Q
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INSTITUTE of TECHNICAL MECHANICSINSTITUTE of TECHNICAL MECHANICS

National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine 
National Space Agency of Ukraine 

STCU Project №4876

Achieving sustainability of the institute: 
strategy for growth and development

Project manager: Oleg
 

V. Pylypenko
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MAIN TASK OF THE STAGE UNDER REVIEW

Presented developed technologies at 
investment forums in Kiev after successful 
training sessions, and in Warsaw after receiving 
certificate of the winner

Participated in the 16th International Wheelset

 Congress and Exhibition (March 14 through 18, 
2010) in South Africa –

 

resultsed

 

in invitation to 
present the technology in India

Corresponding with Canadian, US and Italian 
firms on the use of vibratory-rotary drilling 
technology

drilling technology

To find partners for technologies adjusted to needs of customers

To find investors to create mutual start-up companies
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Two institute employees were sent to ShAG
 

Computer Academy to be trained for 
administering institute network and finished their study successfully;



 

A contract was concluded with the POLYGLOT company for English courses 
started from April 1, 2010

COMPLETED TASKS

 Leaflets for each technology description are prepared for printing;
All the materials are prepared for the booklet about the institute and 
its profile;
A design for the institute web-site is developed, and materials for its 
modernization are collected. 

PROMO EVENTS –
 

to advertise developed technologies

MODERNIZATION OF INFORMATIONAL BACKGROUND –
 

to give institute 
scientists possibility to be visible

Basic computer system and a remote domain structure are under development
Workstation Library is developed

DEVELOPING EMPLOYEE SKILLS & ABILITIES
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TECHNOLOGIES MARKETING PREPARATION

Marketing research at Nerac
 (USA) of “New Pneumatic 

Vibroprotective Systems”

Marketing analysis is being 
used by institute technology 
transfer officer to make similar 
investigations for additional 
technologies developed at the 
institute.
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CTCO Program 
Activities
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Examples of Technology 
Agreements –

 
Translated 

into Ukrainian and Russian

--
 

Booklets and 
electronic CD’s
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TPF’S and IPF’S –
 

brochures
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CTCO, ISP & SME 
Meetings and Workshops
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Training meetings
•

 
European Business Competence License (EBCL)

 
(www.ebcl.eu) 

training course for CTCOs, ISP’s and SME representatives

•
 

Ukrainian Investment Fund “Horizon Capital”
 

expressed interest 
to high tech business opportunities in meeting at STCU with 
CTCOs, ISPs and SMEs

•
 

Meeting with leading Ukrainian law firm “Asters”,
 

where CTCOs, 
ISPs and SMEs

 
made their presentations.  Asters is one of the top 

law firms in Ukraine.  The information will be distributed by Asters 
among western manufacturers, investment organizations, service 
organizations.

•
 

CTCOs, ISP’s and SME representatives
 

participated in an
 

On-line 
Video Workshop with Nerac, a market research advisory firm for 
universities and companies developing innovative technologies
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Other CTCO, ISP, & SME Activities

•
 

STCU sponsored participation of CTCOs
 

from Moldova in 
CRDF Commercialization Seminar in Lviv, Ukraine March 

•
 

CTCO from Kharkiv
 

spoke at Investment Forum in 
National Trade University, Kyiv, in March.

•
 

CTCOs
 

took part in International Scientific and Practical 
Conference “Modern science and technologies: from 
fundamental researches to commercialization of R&D 
results”

 
on March 10th. The conference was funded 

through an STCU Regular project.
•

 
Institute of Physics CTCO will present technologies at 
Norwegian investment Seed Forum in Kyiv, April 28th. 
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Board of 
Advisors 
(Informal)

Company

Customers

United 
Flower Network

Of High 
Technology 

SME’s
 

in 
Ukraine and 

CIS
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SMEs
 

-
 

Companies of United Flower Network
Company Director Products

Dnipro Dr. Mostytsky Medical Freezers

Lileya Dr. Petrenko Piezo

 

Micro-manipulators

Avante Dr. Favorsky Wind & renewable energy

AgroBioTech Dr. Ponomarenko Plant growth regulators

Vision Aid Dr. Pekaryk Macular degeneration

A-Power-Cap Dr. Maletin Super-Capacitor

Microwave Technologies Dr. Bedjukh Tires & gas energy

MagnetoCardio Dr. Sosnytsky Heart diagnostic

Elevator Dr. Danchenko Grain drying silos

Motor Resources Dr. Drachko Engines & helicopters

Clean Service Dr. Klishyn Clean engines

BioMass Dr. Geletukha Renewable bio-energy
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Science and Technology
 Center in Ukraine (STCU)

Vic Korsun
US Deputy Executive Director

7a Metlistov

 

Str
Kiev, Ukraine 03138

Tel: +380-44-490-7150
Fax: +380-44-490-7145

E-mail: vic.korsun@STCU.int
Web site: www.STCU.int



Targeted Initiatives UpdateTargeted Initiatives Update

GBMGBM
TbilisiTbilisi

May 2010May 2010



2010 Overview2010 Overview



 

66thth
 

Cycle with NASU (Ukraine)Cycle with NASU (Ukraine)


 

will be completed at the current GBMwill be completed at the current GBM



 

44thth
 

Cycle with GNSF (Georgia) Cycle with GNSF (Georgia) 


 

will be completed at the current GBMwill be completed at the current GBM



 

33ndnd
 

Cycle with ANAS  (Azerbaijan) Cycle with ANAS  (Azerbaijan) ––
 

completedcompleted


 

4th cycle started April 7, 2010. Will be completed at the next 4th cycle started April 7, 2010. Will be completed at the next 
GBMGBM



 

11stst
 

Cycle with ASM (Moldova) Cycle with ASM (Moldova) ––
 

completedcompleted


 

2nd cycle started April 13, 2010. Will be completed at the next 2nd cycle started April 13, 2010. Will be completed at the next 
GBMGBM



Characteristics of Characteristics of ProgrammeProgramme



 

Attracted Ukrainian, Georgian, Azeri and Moldovan Attracted Ukrainian, Georgian, Azeri and Moldovan 
political & financial support in redirecting FWS into political & financial support in redirecting FWS into 
the countrythe country’’s longs long--term S&T development programsterm S&T development programs



 

CoCo--financing (50:50) WFP and Recipient Statesfinancing (50:50) WFP and Recipient States



 

Recipient States are engaged as equal and active Recipient States are engaged as equal and active 
partners in copartners in co--financing research projects, in areas of financing research projects, in areas of 
national prioritynational priority



 

Dramatic reduction in processing time of project Dramatic reduction in processing time of project 
proposalsproposals



20092009--2010 Overview2010 Overview

NASU  (Ukraine) GNSF(Georgia) ANAS (Azer) ASM (Mold)

# of projects submitted 25 23 14 8

# of projects funded 12 ? 30th GBM 10 ? 30th GBM 9 6

Budget WFP $600K $350K $450K $150K

Budget of Recipient 
Parties $600K $350K $450K $150K

Commencement day of 
new call for proposals 

2010 - 2011

7th Cycle 
Launch

September 2010

5th Cycle 
Launch

September 
2010

4th Cycle 
Launch

March 2011

2nd Cycle
Launch 

March 2011



2010 2010 -- 2011 Budget Projections2011 Budget Projections

NASU (Ukraine) GNSF (Georgia)
ANAS

(Azerbaijan) ASM (Moldova)

$600K $350K $450K $150K

Total from Recipient 
Parties 1 550 000 USD 

Total from West. F. P. 1 550 000 USD

Projected Budget for 2010 3.1 million USD



Exchange of Financial & Technical Exchange of Financial & Technical 
InformationInformation



 

In 2009, Agreements reached with NASU, GNSF 
and AAS re. exchange of financial and technical 
information



 

We continue to receive the financial information 
re. completed projects from the NASU, ANAS and 
GNSF



New Initiatives for 2010New Initiatives for 2010



 

Expansion of the Program?Expansion of the Program?


 

Ministry of Health?Ministry of Health?


 

Ministry of Agrarian Sciences?Ministry of Agrarian Sciences?


 

Ministry of Environmental Policies?Ministry of Environmental Policies?



 

Alignment of Priority Areas with interest of WFPAlignment of Priority Areas with interest of WFP
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Update on 
STCU 
Sponsored 
Missions

STCU Advisory Committee, and
30th Governing Board Meeting

Tbilisi, Georgia
25-27 May 2010

Michel Zayet 
DED (EU)
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Prepared Activities

• 1. Defining a Calendar of Events

• 2. Three STCU Operational Departments 
with a common logic

• 3. Selecting Events on the Basis of the 
Potential Target Interest
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Identified Budgets

• In 2010, four STCU Budget Lines available for support of 
Missions/Events:

=> Shared- and Party-Designated Supplemental - Seminars and 
Workshops

=> Shared Supplemental - Business Training/Sustainability Support 
(Partnership Promotion missions)

=> Parties’ Designated Supplemental - Travel & Mobility

=> Parties’ Designated Supplemental - Partner Promotion & Support
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Rolled out missions
TAD SPD SED

• DOE , AIDCO and STCU in 
Brussels (Jan 21st and 22nd) re; 
Nuclear Forensics initiative.

• Nuclear Forensics Coordination 
Meetings held in Kiev 8-10 
February

• GLOBE 2010” in Vancouver, in 
March 24-26, 2010. Conference 
and exhibition. Also opportunity 
to meet with NRC and Canadian 
companies

• Renewable Energy  Technologies 
Conference and Exhibition, Washington, 
D.C. February, 3-7 2010.  

• Training in Kyiv for European Business 
Competence*Licence/ EBC*L, Demo 
course (Maryna Mendelenko)  and Nerac 
presentation on March 12th.

• Pitch Training in Kyiv for Seed Forum on 
the 16th of March, 2010. 

• The Civilian Research and Development 
Foundation's Workshop in Lviv, March 
25th.  

• Business Summit in National Trade 
University in Kyiv, March 26th. 

• February 22, STCU Tech Transfer, 
Commercialization and IPR round table in 
Kurdyumov Institute of Metall Physics, Kyiv, 
Ukraine 

• March 10th, International Scientific and 
Practical Conference “Modern science and 
technologies: from fundamental researches 
to commercialization of R&D results”, Kyiv, 
Ukraine

• April 6, meeting and presentations of 
CTCO's, ISP's and SME's with leading 
Ukrainian law firm “Asters” in Kyiv, Ukraine

• April 9 meeting and presentations of 
CTCO's, ISP's and SME's with Ukrainian 
Investment fund "Horizon" in Kyiv, Ukraine

• AIDCO Mission to Ukrainian 
Anti-Plague Station in 
Simferopol January 24 – 29, 
2010

• Ukrainian-Euratom Fission 
Research Meeting, Brussels, 16 
February 2010 (Euratom/DG 
RTD)

• International EU-Russia/CIS 
Conference on technologies of 
the future: Spain-ISTC/STCU 
cooperation. Madrid, 22-23 April 
2010 (An Event under the 
Spanish Presidency of the EU)
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First Feedback & Tentative Assessment
[…I would like to thank you and your team for nice organization of our trip and seminar in Madrid. 

In my opinion STCU delegation has adequately and successfully presented Ukrainian Institutes, results of 
their researches and developments.

Indeed such meeting is a great opportunity and excellent place to find the partners. After attending the 
seminar we will have additional experience concerning increasing of efficiency and output of such 
meetings. 

Here are few proposals only:

1.      I think that organization should be done [solely] by STCU and Ukrainian Institutions, which will be 
represented by most active participants. 

2.      In my opinion it is necessary to include wider representation of potential EU-partners.

3.      We should continue the search of new potential partners (information on their scientific, technical and 
commercial interests) more carefully. 

4.      To keep up high level of requirements to meeting’s participants (professional experience, high level of 
presentation, qualified English).

Once more thank you very much for your great job…]
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Quick Overview of: International EU-Russia/CIS Conference on 
Technologies for the Future: Spain-ISTC/STCU Cooperation, 

Madrid 22-23 April 2010

1. How many valuable EU contacts did you manage to make 
during 22-23 April meetings ?

2. Which out of these could be interested to start Partner 
Project through STCU? (probability of Partner 
Project or direct contract – your estimation)

=> range from 3 (few) to 9 / Average = 4.5 contacts per 
participant

=> Only pre-existing contacts reach 90% chance to 
materialize a partner project. For the first encounters 
chances are in the size of 15 to 25% chances.

3. Do you need STCU support in follow-up process (Yes/No). 
If Yes 

Please details the name of contact and type of assistance 
sought

4. Were you well enough prepared, and what would you like 
STCU to offer you in advance for next time 
participation to a similar event?

=> Overall trend is STCU follow-up is not needed (!) unless 
it specifically concerns the administrative procedure 
(not the science, nor the workplan).

=> All participating Delegates felt they were sufficiently 
pre-trained. It was suggested STCU gets the lists of 
foreign participants ahead of time / with more details 
on their specific interests. Receiving all presentations 
and sharing them online was also considered a plus.

STCU sponsored the participation of six Scientists
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